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Monday, April 30, 2012


--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning.  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.

The Board has convened this morning to hear two applications, EB-2011-0242, an application by Enbridge Gas Distribution Limited, and EB-2011-0283, an application by Union Gas Limited.  These applications are being heard together because they share a common subject matter.  Both applications seek recovery of the cost consequences related to the procurement and delivery of biomethane gas through the applicants' respective gas distribution systems.  Some, but not all, of the evidence for these cases is common to the applications.

Sitting with me today is Cynthia Chaplin, vice chair, and Marika Hare, Board member.

Could I have appearances, please?
Appearances


MR. CASS:  Good morning.  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution.

MR. SMITH:  Good morning.  Alex Smith for Union Gas.

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Panel.  Tom Brett for BOMA and for the AgriEnergy Producers' Association of Ontario.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. FRASER:  Marion Fraser for Toronto and Region and Conservation Authority.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson and Jack Hughes for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. FORSTER:  Rick Forster and Karen Cook for Direct Energy Limited.


MR. POCH:  David Poch for Green Energy Coalition.

MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.

MR. GARDNER:  Matt Gardner for Bullfrog Power.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro for VECC.

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning.  Randy Aiken for the London Property Management Association.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein for School Energy Coalition.


MR. ELSON:  Kent Elson for Pollution Probe, and I am here with Jack Gibbons, as well.

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and Panel.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of Federation of Rental-Housing Providers of Ontario.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined today with Zora Crnojacki and John Wasylyk.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  I thought that was going to take longer than it did.  Are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters


MR. SMITH:  There are, Mr. Chair, just a few quick housekeeping matters.  The first point is I would like to take you through our plan for the next three days.

We had circulated to counsel for the intervenors and to the Board a list of -- an issues list that is cued to the three panels we will be hearing from.  The first panel is the overview panel, which will be giving evidence today.

The next --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Smith.  Do you have copies of that?

MR. SMITH:   I do.

[Mr. Smith passes copies to Board members.]


MS. CHAPLIN:  It is just me that doesn't have it.  Thank you very much.

MR. SMITH:  And the purpose of this list was not to carve anything in stone, but just to try to be helpful.

So, today, we will be hearing from the project overview panel.  Tomorrow we expect to hear from the technical panel, and on Thursday we will be hearing from the cost consequences panel.  There may be some fluidity there, depending on how long things take.


The one thing I would draw the Board's attention to is that the cost consequences panel will not be available till Thursday morning.


Then, finally, I would like to take everyone through a few changes to the evidence.  There have been minor errors that have been caught.  So we've provided you, and counsel for all of the intervenors, with five pages.  I will just take you through them just to highlight what the changes are.

The first page is Exhibit C, appendix 1 of the application.  And you will see a table -- two tables, one at the top of the page, one at the bottom.

The change is to the table at the top -- so, again, this is Exhibit C, appendix 1, schedule 1.  There is a note at the bottom that says -- notes:  RNG purchase of 1.7 pJs, 1.8 percent of Union south system supply.

That is a correction.  It is just an oversight that was caught as we were preparing.  Nothing turns on it.

Similarly, the next page is Exhibit C, appendix 1, schedule 2, and it is the second note, and that is just catching the same clerical oversight.


Then the next one is FRPO Interrogatory No. 9, and you will see in our responses at the side of the page, you have backslash U next to the two lines where the changes are.

The first change is on the first line to 2.4 million, and the second change on the second line is 8.1 percent.  These just reflect changes that we made because we noticed that the numbers originally provided were for Enbridge alone.  So this is simply updating the evidence so that it reflects both Enbridge and Union.

Finally, the response to VECC Interrogatory No. 10, this is the last piece in your package.  There is no change to the first page we've provided.

The second page, again, has backslash U next to the lines that include the changes, and the changes are both to project cost.  The baseline farm, 3,841,075, and the large farm, 5,587,221, those are the corrected numbers.

That is everything in terms of corrections to the evidence, and intervenor -- counsel for the intervenors have copies of all of these, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Smith, were these filed through the RESS, as well, these corrections, or are they just the hard copies today?

MR. SMITH:  Just the hard copies, but we will file them.

MR. MILLAR:  I would suggest we mark these, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  This will be Exhibit K1.1, and it is a package of materials correcting certain errors in the prefiled evidence and interrogatory responses.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  PACKAGE OF MATERIALS CORRECTING CERTAIN ERRORS IN PREFILED EVIDENCE AND INTERROGATORY RESPONSES.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  That is everything, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As Mr. Smith has indicated, the Board's intention is to move through the witness panels, subject to the Thursday availability of the final panel, and to have argument-in-chief on Friday, as provided for in PO No. 5.

Argument for intervenors will be May the 17th, followed immediately by reply argument from the applicants, and I take it that the silence on that subject indicates that that schedule is perfectly manageable for everyone.  Mr. Brett?

MR. BRETT:  Mr. Chairman, on that point, would it be possible for intervenors that had a commitment on the 17th to make their submission in writing earlier, say by the Friday of the week before or something of that sort?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board will take that under advisement, Mr. Brett, and get back to you.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  I do have estimates, I think, from everyone with respect to their cross-examination estimate for the first panel.  It is important that we hold to those, to some extent.  So I will be encouraging conformity with the estimates to the extent that it is reasonable.

If there is nothing else from a preliminary point of view, we will proceed to the first panel.  Mr. Cass, are you leading?

MR. CASS:  I am, Mr. Chair, yes.  Thank you.  As the Board is aware, each of the three panels is a joint panel, in the sense that there are Union and Enbridge representatives on each panel.  I will take this particular panel through examination-in-chief.

Perhaps just before the witnesses come to be sworn, I might introduce them to the Board.

Sitting closest to the court reporter, the two witnesses there are, if I may put it this way, the witnesses who would be addressing the overview evidence.  First is Trevor Maclean.  He is from Enbridge, and he is director, business and market development.

Beside Mr. Maclean is Brian Goulden of Union Gas.  He's manager, market development.

Then the next three witnesses are here because of any questions that there might be about the survey evidence.  The first of those is Sandra Guiry.  She is a vice president at Ipsos-Reid.

Next to Sandra is Jim Grant from Enbridge.  He is manager, market research and analysis.

And finally Barbara Gardiner from Enbridge -- from Union Gas, I'm sorry -- so used to saying Enbridge -- she is manager, market research and analysis.

If the five of you could please come forward to be sworn or affirmed?
PANEL 1: PROJECT OVERVIEW


Barbara Gardiner, Sworn


James Gregory Grant; Sworn


Sandra Elizabeth Guiry; Sworn


Bryan Robert Goulden; Sworn


Trevor Maclean; Affirmed

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Cass


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I have a few questions to introduce Ms. Guiry to the Board, because I will be asking the Board to accept her as an expert in survey-based market research.

Ms. Guiry, am I correct that you earned a bachelor of arts in political science from Carlton University in 1997?

MS. GUIRY:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Following that, you achieved a master of arts in political science, with a specialization in empirical theory and methodology from York University?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And you are currently a vice president of Ipsos-Reid and manager of the Toronto office of Ipsos-Reid public affairs division?

MS. GUIRY:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  And you have given numerous presentations on public opinion research, as set out in your curriculum vitae?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes.  Everything set out is correct.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  And you are a member of the Marketing Research and Intelligence Association?

MS. GUIRY:  Also correct.

MR. CASS:  And would I be correct in thinking that Ipsos-Reid is the leading firm in Canada in this area of public opinion research?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes.  Ipsos-Reid is the largest in Canada.

MR. CASS:  And it is a gold certified member of that association that I have mentioned, the Marketing Research and Intelligence Association?

MS. GUIRY:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  What does that mean, that it is gold certified?

MS. GUIRY:  Gold certified is the highest designation that you can receive from the industry association, MRIA, and it is awarded to organizations after an independent evaluation of the business.

MR. CASS:  And you have been a vice president at Ipsos-Reid since 2007?

MS. GUIRY:  2007.

MR. CASS:  How many public opinion surveys of the type that are in evidence in this case would you have supervised or worked on or participated in during your career?

MS. GUIRY:  I'm involved in directly or oversee directly about 40 to 50 projects per year.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, subject to any comments from other parties, I would ask the Board to accept Ms. Guiry as an expert in survey-based market research.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there any objections to that characterization?

The Board will so designate the witness.

Thank you, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.

I would just like to go through a few questions for the adoption of the evidence, and hopefully be able to do this in a somewhat expedited fashion.

If I could start with you first, Mr. Goulden, can you confirm, please, that -- subject to the corrections this morning, of course -- the evidence of Union Gas in this proceeding, including responses to interrogatories, was prepared by you or under your direction and control?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CASS:  And is that evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  Subject to the updates that we have this morning.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a note to the witnesses.  You have to press the little green button so that the light goes on.  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  And then turning to you, Mr. Maclean, same questions with respect to the evidence of Enbridge in this proceeding.

Was the evidence of Enbridge, including responses to interrogatories, prepared by you or under the direction and control of you or your predecessor?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CASS:  And is that evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CASS:  Finally, Ms. Guiry, if I can turn to you with the same questions, the report of Ipsos-Reid that was filed in this proceeding and any responses to interrogatories answered by Ipsos-Reid, was that prepared by you or under your direction and control?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CASS:  And is that evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MS. GUIRY:  It is.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Just a few other questions in examination-in-chief, Mr. Chair, if I might.

Mr. Goulden, if I -- sorry.  Yes, Mr. Goulden, if I could start with you, why do Union and Enbridge consider the proposed RNG program to be important?

Was that supposed to be for Mr. Maclean?

MR. GOULDEN:  That was a trick question, and I think Mr. Maclean would best be able to answer that.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  I'm off to a good start.

[Laughter]


MR. MACLEAN:  I would love to take the lead on that.

Mr. Chairman and Panel members, the reason we're here is because this application is ultimately about the viability and sustainability of the natural gas industry, and our ability to deliver thermal energy to our customers at a reasonable cost.

We all know that society is changing.  It is changing with respect to its attitudes on the use of fossil fuels and on GHG emissions.  I think we could all argue about how fast, how far, and so on, but I think the general direction, we all know.

If you want to reduce fossil fuel usage and GHG on the electric side of the energy paradigm in Ontario, there is quite a few options that you have available: wind, solar, hydro and, yes, even biogas.

In fact, the system is centralized, so you can make a meaningful effect, effect change in a meaningful way, really by addressing a number of different sites, a relative handful number of sites.  For example, you can reduce fossil fuel usage simply by closing a number of coal-fired plants.

On the gas side, though, it is radically different, and this is a point that I would think the Board would like to understand carefully.

If you want to reduce fossil fuels and GHG on the thermal side, you have to address the fact that there are millions of buildings and each one of those buildings actually converts the fuel into useful energy.  This is a major difference between the fossil fuel business on the heating side, and electricity.

The ramifications of that are important to our customers in the long-term.

Instead of effecting change at a handful of sites, you now have to ask millions of customers to change their equipment.  And if we ask ourselves what really are the options that are out there and we pause for a moment, there aren't too many of them and they're not too good, unless of course we want to change that paradigm and address the supply side of this equation, in the same way that electricity can solve the problem through addressing the supply side of the equation.

And that's what RNG is really meant to do.  It is meant to develop one of the few options that are available, really, to our customers, and to help protect our customers' investment.  We often think of the utilities' investment, but really I assure you when you look at the millions of buildings and the amount of money that our customers have in terms of furnaces and water heaters and other equipment in those buildings, they have very substantial investments.

This is an opportunity for us to help them protect their investments and to give them a hedge against downside risk.

If we want to develop the supply-side option, it is going to take a fairly long time, just for the simple reason that this industry is in its infancy; RNG is in its infancy.

If we think of the electric side of the equation, we have been at it for quite a few years now already, whether it is RESOP or FIT or so on.  The same thing will be required on the supply side for the natural gas or renewable natural gas industry.

We don't want to take too long to react.  Otherwise, the problem is going to be upon us.  The question is:  When do you react?

We have proposed a program that is affordable, and by affordable, we've asked our customers to define what is affordable.  We've done so to provide a foundation for the industry to grow over time, so that, in effect, in the future our customers will be able to benefit from the base that we are proposing to build in the next few years.

In a nutshell, we think it is prudent to take affordable action now, and we think our customers expect us to exercise the kind of leadership that we are bringing here today to do so.

Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Now, Mr. Goulden, I have one question for you.  Why was the proposed program designed to recover RNG costs from system gas customers?

MR. GOULDEN:  There are several reasons for that and I will articulate them now.  We did consider a wide range of mechanisms to successfully enable the RNG market, and these are outlined in our response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 5.

On balance, the utilities have recommended the approach we have because it leverages the actual positions and strengths of us, the utilities, and also, importantly, it will succeed, in our view, in enabling the RNG market, which is why we are here.

In effect, we're trying to maximize program results, while sticking as close to our competencies and our involvement in the marketplace.

Regarding supply, the utilities currently purchase supply for its system gas customers.  We have carefully considered the cost impact on customers and have limited the program within the parameters that are clear and bounded.

Our customers have told us that they support programs of this type provided they are affordable, and what we have identified through the market research is that that affordability is 2 percent of residential customer's bill, or $18 per year after five years, which will be the culmination of the program.

The mechanics to do this are available.  There isn't a Board-established approved QRAM mechanism which recovers system supply costs on a cost passthrough basis from our customers.

This option - and this is important - will have sufficient volume, in our view, to enable the RNG market.  We do not believe that would be the case with the opt-in/opt-out type scenarios that have also been proposed.

This is because the certainty of a specified demand from system customers will allow the RNG supply to develop with planning certainty.  This certainty is required to develop the RNG market.

Individual customers continue to have options if they don't wish to participate individually, despite their strong overall support for the program.

Looking at the program design as a whole, we believe it will accomplish the objective of stimulating the industry, enable the RNG supply business, and, most importantly, be implemented at an affordable cost that our customers support.

MR. CASS:  And then just two questions for you, Ms. Guiry, if I may.  First, could you summarize, please, the experience of Ipso Reid with surveys of the nature that's been filed in this proceeding?

MS. GUIRY:  Ipsos-Reid is the largest market research provider in Canada, and globally Ipsos is the third largest in the world.  So we have considerable experience conducting surveys of this kind, scientific polls, either through telephone, online or mail, with a variety of stakeholders.

I would say annually our Canadian researchers conduct 2,500 surveys of this kind, per year.

MR. CASS:  Finally, can you please summarize the survey methodology?

MS. GUIRY:  So two surveys were conducted.  The first one was an online survey of residential customers.  A total of 1,052 customers were surveyed.

And the online sample was polled based on age, region and gender quotas to ensure that the final sample size we got back accurately reflects the known distribution of Ontario gas customers.

I would like to add that online polls are very commonly used in the industry to represent the views of the general population, as well as sub-populations.

The margin of error associated with this particular poll is plus or minus 3.1, 19 times out of 20.  So that sample size of 1,052 is often used to represent populations as large as Ontario gas customer population or even larger.

The second survey that we conducted was a commercial survey.  So we surveyed Enbridge-specific commercial customers, and the survey was conducted via telephone with a randomly pulled list of customers that was provided to us from Enbridge.

And quotas were set on region to ensure that the final sample size composition reflects the regional distribution of commercial customers.

The margin of error on a sample of 500 is plus or minus 4.4 percent 19 times out of 20, and, again, this sample of 500 is commonly used to represent the views of the population of the size of Enbridge commercial customers.

I would add, also, the fact that two different methodologies were used and produced very similar results, well within the margin of error, also can speak to the reliability of the methodology that was used.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Ms. Guiry.  That is the examination-in-chief of the panel, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  I think the parties have been advised that it is the Board's preference that parties generally supporting the proposals should go first in their cross-examination, to be followed by those who are generally less disposed to the application.

Have you worked out an order for that?

MR. MILLAR:  We have had some discussions, Mr. Chair.  I think Mr. Brett was prepared to go first, if no one else leapt in front of him.

I know Mr. Gardner would prefer to go close to the front, as well.  Perhaps others will fill in as we go.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And Mr. Elston?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Elston, as well.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Poch, I expect you would be generally aligned in that side?  Thank you.  Mr. Brett.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett

MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Good morning, panel.  I am going to be asking you questions this morning on behalf of the AgriEnergy Producers' Association of Ontario.  Maybe I will just refer to that as APAO for short.

As stated, we are generally supportive of this application.  We have some questions dealing with price.  But I wish to start with turning you to your evidence at page -- this is Exhibit B, tab 1, page 21 of 28, which is your joint evidence.

These are going to be all fair high-level questions.  In that evidence -- do you have that?

MR. GOULDEN:  We have that.

MR. BRETT:  In that evidence down toward the bottom of the page, page 21, you talk about the rationale for the prices that would be -- first of all, you state the prices that will be paid, and I am interested in the prices that will be paid for anaerobic digestion.  And those prices are stated in the table there in the middle of the page at $17 a gJ for -- I gather that is for the first 50,000 gJs annually, and then -- sorry, 17,000 for the first 50,000 gJs, and then $11 per gJ for any gJs over 50,000 produced in a given year; is that correct?

MR. MACLEAN:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And what you've said there is that -- and this was determined by your expert, Electrigaz, who will be talking about this, I'm sure, in more detail tomorrow.

But what you said there is essentially, given your overall framework of wanting this to be affordable and not exceeding the 2 percent or $18 limit, in terms of an impact on customers, you have tried to set these prices to get a return of equity of about 11 percent for the producers.

And that is the general target across all of the agri -- I guess all of the farm-based producers and perhaps all of the producers, is that correct, that general 11 percent target -- 11 percent return on equity target?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And you say that that was selected because of its consistency with FIT, with the ROE and the OPA FIT, feed-in tariff program, which I think it is generally recognized has been created to -- driven to 11 percent return on equity; correct?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  We would characterize it as we were informed by the FIT.  The program is not identical to the FIT, but we certainly consider that a significant reference point.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Yes, you say that, at the top of page 22, you took that to be representative of the industry/marketplace, kind of a market indicator?

MR. GOULDEN:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And of course it is clear that FIT currently supports biogas projects as renewable energy projects; right?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And the -- now, your proposal -- the prices that we talked about a moment ago are the starting prices, the going-in prices.  These are 20-year contracts, and your proposal is that over the 20 years, you would escalate that price by 0.3 of the Ontario CPI increase in any given year; correct?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.  That's what the proposal is.

MR. BRETT:  So if the CPI, the Ontario CPI, were to increase 2 percent in, say, the second year out, then you would escalate that, those starting prices, by 0.3 of 2 percent, which would be 0.6 of 1 percent.  Right?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, just switching gears a little bit here, I am not going to get into the benefits of this program.  I think you have laid those out very well in your evidence-in-chief.

I want to touch briefly on one issue there related to benefit, which is the efficiency, the energy efficiency of your program.  And for that, I think I will ask you to -- just to have a reference point in front of you, I will ask you to flip over to appendix 5 to your submission at -- let me get this right.

Sorry, appendix -- it's appendix 1 to your evidence-in-chief, at page 27.  I don't know that I really need to ask you to do this, but just so everybody is comfortable with the point I am going to ask you about here.

So that is Exhibit B, tab 1, appendix 1, and this is an Electrigaz gas study, I believe.  No, this is the Alberta Innovation study, page 27.

Do you have that?

MR. GOULDEN:  We do.

MR. BRETT:  At the top couple of paragraphs there, you make the point or they make the point that the energy efficiency of the gas to pipeline conversion, if I can put it that way, is 90 to 95 percent, while the efficiency of converting biogas to electricity on-site is 35 to 40 percent; correct?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.  That's what it says in the report, but I am not sure --

MR. BRETT:  What I really want you to confirm for me is that your view is that -- as offering this program, is that the conversion efficiency of this program is considerably greater than the conversion efficiency of the FIT program.

In other words, it is more energy-efficient?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.  That's our contention, provided there is no use for waste heat from the electricity option.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Provided there is no co-generation.

MR. MACLEAN:  Or useful -- useful use of the waste heat in any form.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  That's fair enough.

Now, if I can just move on, you are aware -- going back to the FIT program for a moment, you are aware that the Province of Ontario has recently proposed amendments to the FIT program?  Right?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, we are.

MR. BRETT:  And they put forward new FIT rules, a new draft contract, a new set of definitions and a new pricing schedule.

So my question was just basically I am just detailing what the province has put out there.  They put out a revised program, rules, a revised contract.

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.  We are generally -- we are generally aware that the OPA has changed some of the rules with respect to the FIT program, but we are not experts in electricity --


MR. BRETT:  No, I understand that.  I am not going to ask you questions that will require any expertise in electricity as such.

You are aware in a general sense that they have lowered the prices for some of the types of renewable power, such as solar and wind?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, we are aware of that.

MR. BRETT:  And you are aware that they have maintained the prices for biogas projects?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, we are aware of that.

MR. BRETT:  Are you aware that while the original FIT escalator for all projects other than grid-mounted, roof-mounted solar was -- this was the annual escalator, was 0.2 percent – sorry, 0.2 of CPI, that in the case of biogas only –- now, this is biogas projects only -- they have increased the escalator annually from 0.2 of CPI, Ontario CPI, to 0.5 of Ontario CPI?  Are you aware of that?  Or if you are not aware of it, will you take it, subject to check?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, we are aware of that.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Thank you.

Now, let me preface this question with this comment.  Our organization has done fairly detailed analyses of the returns, the financial returns for farm-based -- I am speaking here of farm-based projects, anaerobic digestion projects, and that -- both gas, what we will call gas-to-pipeline gas projects, and FIT projects.

And what we determined, speaking broadly -- and this information is information that individual members have worked and it is proprietary information, but speaking broadly, our conclusions are, when we have looked at this, that the -- for projects of a similar capacity, projects that use the same amount of gas, essentially, one that uses that gas to produce power and one that uses that gas to produce pipeline gas, that the capital cost of the second project, the pipeline gas project -- and this is alluded to, I think, in your evidence, but let me just state the way I -- the way we saw it.

We think the capital cost on a like-for-like basis, if you like -- a lot of "likes" in there -- is about 20 percent higher for the pipeline project.

We think that the operating cost for the pipeline project is about -- the annual operating costs are about 15 percent higher.

Do those numbers strike you as -- are those numbers numbers that you would concur with, or do they strike you as reasonable numbers?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. WARREN:  I hate to interrupt.  I wonder if Mr. Brett could point to where his analysis is in the evidence, so we know that we are comparing a real apple to a real orange.  Is there information on what his data is in the evidence somewhere?

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, I think I said, actually, Mr. Chairman, that this was information that our producer-members had calculated.

I think there is no -- in the evidence, you will not find anywhere in the evidence a comparison, a head-to-head comparison, if you like, of the same-sized project for FIT, for electricity and for gas.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board was developing a similar concern to the one expressed by Mr. Warren in his question, which is that this appears to be -- the suggestions appear to be in the nature of providing evidence.

I understand that these are suggestions, Mr. Brett, but I would just caution that, in the absence of actual evidence supporting those propositions, that the adoption of the suggestions may not have the full force of evidence, as the Board considers the matter.

Mr. BRETT:  No, I...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I urge the panel to be careful about its own adoption of these suggestions as the –-

MR. BRETT:  I take your point.  What I really had thought was that given that the utilities have said that, you know:  We created these prices in part to get a return on equity which is comparable to the FIT return on equity, that somebody somewhere had to look at the comparison.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is a fair question, but details about what those costs may or may not be is really something that probably requires an evidentiary foundation that is different than your question.

MR. BRETT:  Mm-hmm.  Mm-hmm.

MR. GOULDEN:  Mr. Brett, I am not sure if this is helpful, but we did confer and we can confirm that the expert in this case that did the work is Electrigaz, and they will be part of the technical panel.

With regards to the approach they took, they looked at nine scenarios.  They didn't look at 19 or 29.  Consequently, there is an issue around scalability, which obviously impacts price, and I am not sure we can really provide more useful information.

MR. BRETT:  Well, that's fine.  What I will do is see if I can think of a better way to put the question or put some relevant questions to the expert panel tomorrow.

Well, then I just -- one other question to wind this up.  Given the fact that, you know, you have used the FIT model as you like -- as you put it, as an indicator of market at page 22 of your evidence, and given that I have suggested -- given that you are aware and everyone is aware that the government or the OPA has raised their annual escalator for FIT projects to 0.5, would you consider raising your annual incremental -- your annual increase from 0.3 of Ontario CPI to 0.5 of Ontario CPI in order to remain on all fours with what FIT has done?

[Mr. Maclean and Mr. Goulden confer]


MR. MACLEAN:  We are hesitant at this panel to really disaggregate the various components of the program from a financial point of view, that if you pull one lever, there is an effect somewhere else.

So we are hesitant to say that, and we think the program is the program, and the financials around it need to be looked at in a composite whole.  So that would not be our intent right now.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.  Mr. Gardner.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, just before you go, Mr. Gardner, Mr. Maclean and Mr. Goulden, just to ensure I understand the way the program is proposed, my sense would be that if the prices were higher, you would purchase less.  Am I correct in understanding that the control over the impact is the ratepayer impact and that, given whatever the price is, that determines how much you will buy?  Am I correct?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct, and I think it really gets to the overall modelling, that you can't enable every single possible theoretical project, because the cost of some of them is going to become excessive.

What we are trying to do is maximize volume for the cost impact to the customer.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Gardner.

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  In keeping with the Board's preference to have those generally in support go first, I am happy to proceed after GEC and Pollution Probe, if that suits the Board better.  I think we fall somewhere just past GEC and Pollution Probe.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So gradations of support?

[Laughter]

MR. GARDNER:  Right.  We are somewhere in the middle.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board is happy to accommodate that.  Mr. Elson, do you feel comfortable going next?

MR. ELSON:  We do feel comfortable with that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson

MR. ELSON:  Good morning.  I am going to be asking some questions about the incremental cost of greenhouse gas reductions from the proposed programs, some of the underlying assumptions and figures used to calculate those costs, and also the Green Energy Act's feed-in tariff rate for wind power as a possible benchmark for comparison with the proposed programs, just to give you a bit of a road map.

I will start with discussing the incremental cost of greenhouse gas reductions from the proposed programs, and I will ask if you could turn to the Pollution Probe reference book, which has been provided to all of the parties, and I believe the Board should have a copy, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I believe you have copies up at the dais.  We will call that Exhibit K2.1, the Pollution Probe reference book.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, 1.2?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, you are correct.  I'm sorry, 1.2.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  POLLUTION PROBE REFERENCE BOOK.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  If you could turn to tab 1, and that is at page 1.  This tab contains the utilities' response to Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 1.  Are you familiar with this response?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, we are.

MR. ELSON:  As you know, Pollution Probe asked the utilities to calculate the incremental cost of achieving greenhouse gas reductions from the proposed programs.

As you know, one of the potential benefits of purchasing biomethane is the net reduction of greenhouse gasses?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And the incremental cost would be a factor -- would be a function of a number of factors, including the price paid for biomethane?

MR. MACLEAN:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And the price of the alternative supply option; namely, conventional natural gas?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that would be a useful basis of comparison.

MR. ELSON:  Also, the incremental greenhouse gas emission reductions from substituting biomethane for conventional natural gas?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that would be one of the benefits that would be attributable.  Of course, there is a full set of them.

MR. ELSON:  And those would be the factors that you would have to look at to calculate the incremental cost of greenhouse gas reductions?

MR. MACLEAN:  Well, if we wanted to attribute the full cost differential to greenhouse gas emissions, that is the way we would do it.  However, I think in our response what we have said is that one should also take into account there are a number of other benefits.

So it is somewhere between, if you follow my logic.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. GOULDEN:  Of course, one of the challenges around this, Mr. Elson, is we don't have a government determination of what the value of carbon is at this point.  So this is really why we're trying to impute, if you will.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I am going to come back to both of those issues shortly.  First, I would like to turn to page 3 of the reference book, which is page 3 of the interrogatory response.

On this page, there is a table summarizing the response to the interrogatory, and I am going to go through that with you.  You will see at column (a) of table 1, this shows the utilities' four proposed purchase prices for biomethane; namely, $6, $11, $13 and $17 per gigajoule.

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Column (b) here shows the three potential prices for conventional natural gas, $4, $8 and $12?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  While we are looking at column (d), could you undertake to provide a revised chart that includes the calculation based on natural gas at $2.00?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.  Obviously, we can't do it now, so we would have to provide that later.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That is an undertaking?

MR. CASS:  Yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.1, and could you repeat the undertaking, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  It would be an undertaking to provide a calculation of the cost of achieving greenhouse gas emission reductions by procuring biomethane, assuming the cost of conventional natural gas is $2.00 per gigajoule.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE A CALCULATION OF COST OF ACHIEVING GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSION REDUCTIONS BY PROCURING BIOMETHANE, ASSUMING COST OF CONVENTIONAL NATURAL GAS IS $2.00 PER GIGAJOULE.

MR. ELSON:  Moving to column (c), this shows the price premium or the price discount per gigajoule for biomethane under the various pricing scenarios?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And column (d) and (e) show the greenhouse gas emission reduction rates for the proposed programs?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And I guess, most importantly, column (g) shows the cost of achieving a tonne of greenhouse gas emission reductions by procuring and combusting biomethane instead of conventional natural gas?

MR. MACLEAN:  We would say that with the caveat that, really, you need to look at columns (f) -- or, I mean -- yes, columns (f) and (g) together, because they're really providing a range, and it depends upon the source that you are actually replacing.

So in the case of the far column, column (g), it includes not just direct substitution of natural gas, but it includes aggregate emissions reductions, and an example of that might be a small landfill that is not currently collecting and flaring methane.

MR. ELSON:  So in column (g) and column (f) collectively, those summarize the incremental costs?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  That represents what we would consider to be the range.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And that range is from -- in column (g), from a $14 savings to a $30 cost, including both the substitution and emission reduction?

MR. MACLEAN:  That's correct.  For that type of project, that is the range.

MR. ELSON:  Could you explain what type of project would fall under column (g), as opposed to column (f)?

MR. MACLEAN:  Just to refer to my previous comment on the other question, it's really -- the small landfill is a good example of that, the landfill under 1.5 million M3 a year that is not currently obligated by provincial policy to collect and destroy methane.

MR. GOULDEN:  To clarify a little bit more, it is where emissions are collected which would otherwise not be collected, and therefore they should be recognized for that environmental benefit.

MR. ELSON:  So what would be an example under column (f)?

MR. MACLEAN:  So column (f), to stay with the same analogy, is really a large landfill that is already collecting and flaring the gas underneath the provincial regulation.

MR. GOULDEN:  So there wouldn't be any extra emissions that were collected as a result.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

So I am going to ask some questions about the underlying assumptions and figures used in this table, starting with the greenhouse gas reduction numbers.

According to the evidence, the greenhouse gas reductions are due to two factors, substitution and emission reduction; is that right?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And these are discussed in the evidence, and there is an excerpt at tab 2 of our reference book, which you can flip to if you'd like.

According to the evidence, the substitution reduction is due to the fact that the greenhouse gas emission rate per gigajoule attained from combusting biomethane is lower than the greenhouse gas emission rate per gigajoule from combusting conventional natural gas; is that right?

MR. GOULDEN:  I think that is generally right.

This is not our evidence; this is actually the evidence of Dr. Abboud, so he can speak to that, if you have more specific questions.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

If you could turn back to table 1, this is my more specific question.  That is at page 3 of the reference book, table 1.

Column D here lists greenhouse gas reductions resulting from the substitution effect only, or from substitution only?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Do these figures incorporate greenhouse gas substitution for all greenhouse gasses, all major greenhouse gasses, including methane and nitrous oxides, or just for CO2?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  The footnotes at the bottom of the table indicate the references, which is table 19 and appendix 1 at page 48.

Subject to check, we can agree, but again, we didn't make the calculations so we're not sure how much more helpful we can be.

MR. ELSON:  I'm sorry, so your belief is that it includes both -- all major greenhouse gasses?

I guess the question is, it is listed here as being per tonnes of CO2, and whether it is actually CO2 equivalent.

We don't know whether it is CO2 or CO2 equivalent, and I am wondering if you could clarify.

MR. GOULDEN:  At table 19 it refers to CO2 equivalent.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. MACLEAN:  I think I would like to add on to our response.

We're simply reading what it says at table 19, that it says CO2 equivalent.

I think that is something that should be checked with the author of the report, if you want to follow up on that line of thought.

MR. ELSON:  Would you be able to confirm whether it is CO2 or CO2 equivalent?  We are trying to base this off what this interrogatory response means, exactly.

MR. GOULDEN:  We can.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Should we get an undertaking number for that?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, as I understand it, there is a witness who can definitively answer that question, who is going to be testifying later this week.

So I don't think we need an undertaking to that effect.  You can ask the appropriate witness at that time.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  So again going through this chart, there are two factors that result in greenhouse gas reductions, substitution and emission reductions, and the emission reduction effect measures the greenhouse gas benefit of capturing biomethane and combusting it instead of venting it directly into the atmosphere; is that right?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  Now, I am going to go back to something that you mentioned earlier, Mr. Maclean, and that is on page 2 of tab 1, the reference book.

I am going to read the last paragraph here.  It says:

"These calculations assume that all of the benefits of acquiring RNG as part of system supply are attributable to greenhouse gas reductions.  However, as noted in Pollution Probe's Interrogatory No. 1, the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions is but one of the potential benefits of purchasing biomethane.  The other benefits are outlined at Exhibit B, tab 1, pages 8 to 10.  The actual value of the greenhouse gas reductions resulting from the proposed program would be some fraction of the values shown in the table and chart below."


And our question is:  Do Enbridge or Union have estimates of the dollar values of the other benefits of their proposed methane procurement programs?

MR. MACLEAN:  No, we have not estimated specific dollar values of the other potential benefits of the program.

MR. ELSON:  I am going to move on and ask you about the free rider effect.

With respect to the last column in table 1, or the last two columns in table 1 of the response to Pollution Probe's interrogatory, the cost estimates of achieving a tonne of greenhouse gas emission reductions were calculated on the assumption that the biomethane procurement programs free rider rate would be zero; is that correct?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And that is that none of these greenhouse gas emission reductions will be achieved unless Enbridge and Union establish this proposed program?

MR. MACLEAN:  So if we understand the question correctly, for column (g) that would be correct, because it includes things that would not otherwise be done, whereas column (f) is just substitution only.

MR. ELSON:  So if the actual free rider rate were 50 percent for the projects under column (g), then the dollar values in that column would be double in value?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  So, in theory, the logic of your question I think is correct.  What we really doubt is whether or not there really is the potential for free ridership in the short term.

MR. ELSON:  So why do you assume that the free rider rate is zero?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]


MR. GOULDEN:  We had a little caucus here, because we are a little bit confused with the terminology, I guess.

With regards to column (g), what we've identified in column (g) is what we would see as the maximum impact, and the maximum impact would be as a result of substitution.  So you are using RNG instead of natural gas and emission reduction, which is you're capturing emissions that would otherwise go to the atmosphere.

Free rider is one element of that.  There is a whole bunch of other elements around protocols, and is there a protocol for certain applications and all of that stuff.

So that's why, in our response to this question, we didn't actually specifically consider free rider, because it is one of many elements which could sort of temper the results of column (g), which is the maximum.

MR. ELSON:  Maybe it is best if I ask you about a couple of concrete examples.

If you could turn, please, to tab 3 of our document book.  This is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 8.  This interrogatory asked for a list of all existing biomethane suppliers in Ontario.  According to page 2 of the response, one of the existing suppliers is the Walker Environmental Group Landfill in Thorold.

Are you familiar with that?

MR. MACLEAN:  We are familiar with it, to the extent that we know what it is, basically.

We are not familiar with it with respect to understanding the contractual arrangements that are in place.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Does Walker supply biomethane to AbitibiBowater?  I don't have any technical questions about the contractual arrangements.  I am asking if you are aware that they sell biomethane to Abitibi.


MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, we are aware that they sell biogas to Abitibi and that that biogas is minimally cleaned up for the purposes that it is using at Abitibi.  We are making a bit of a distinction there between what we consider RNG and what is actually happening on that project.

MR. ELSON:  If the Board approves Enbridge's proposed biomethane procurement program, would Walker Environmental and/or AbitibiBowater be allowed to sell biomethane from the Thorold landfill to Enbridge?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  If we understand the question, the question is:  Just contractually, would they be allowed to be a proponent underneath of this program?

I'm struggling a little bit with Abitibi, because they are not the owner, so to speak, of the biogas or the source of supply.  But Walker, for instance, under this program would be allowed to participate in this program.

I think what we're getting at is whether or not the same gas that they would be using for Abitibi would be viable for this program, and the answer to that is:  Not without investing a whole bunch of capital and effectively treating this like a new program or new project.

MR. ELSON:  Under the program, they would be eligible to participate in it, Walker?

MR. MACLEAN:  Under the program, anyone who has a source of supply would be eligible to participate.

MR. GOULDEN:  Again, the important distinction Mr. Maclean is making, who has the source of supply that can meet the gas quality specification.  So biogas would be gas that is minimally cleaned up without the carbon dioxide removed.  That is not biomethane.  You need to clean up the gas a whole lot more to make it biomethane.

MR. ELSON:  So if those upgrades were made, Walker could participate in the program?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, if Walker chose to invest in the equipment and technology to develop their source of supply to meet our gas specifications, they would be eligible to participate in the program.

MR. ELSON:  Would you agree that if that were to happen, then the resulting greenhouse gas reductions would be small, or none?

MR. MACLEAN:  I'm sorry, I'm not sure I follow the logic of that question.

MR. ELSON:  If Walker were to participate in the program, in doing so, there would be little or no greenhouse gas reductions as opposed to them selling the biomethane to AbitibiBowater?

MR. MACLEAN:  They would have the same level of greenhouse gas reductions as any other project would, given the nature and type of that project.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't want to interrupt you, Mr. Elson, but just so we're clear about terminology, I think the witnesses were trying to establish the idea that when we use the -- when the term "biomethane" is used, it is improved gas.  It is clean gas, not the dirty gas, not the biogas that is currently subject to the arrangement with Abitibi, according to your question.

So if we can try to use the terminology consistently throughout, I think that will help us in our review of the transcript.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  If Walker were to take its biogas, upgrade it to biomethane and sell it in your program, sell it to Enbridge, previously they would have already been capturing and using the gas and deciding to sell it to Enbridge.  Would there be any sort of additional greenhouse gas reductions?

MR. MACLEAN:  So we would like to answer in two ways.

The first is whether or not it would seem to make commercial or economic sense for Walker and Abitibi to do so.  We are not aware of the terms of the contract that exist between the two of them, but we would note that there has been a pipe built by Enbridge that was paid for in a capital aid in contribution, and that pipe has some sort of value.

So presumably they would stop using that.  They would then have to invest in all of the necessary cleanup technology, which would be very similar in the major cost components to any other new project, if that one did not exist at all.

So we are struggling with the economics on why someone would invest that incremental capital, when they already have a working project that presumably provides them some return, and we are struggling with how the economics work.

So while in theory I think your line is correct, in practice I find it difficult to believe that you would make an additional capital investment, when it doesn't seem to make any economic sense.

The second aspect to the question is that we would have to know -- even if, in theory, they did that, we would still have to know the actual technical way in which the current project works and the efficiency of the current project versus what the alternative project might be.

So I don't really -- I can't comment on what the efficiency of the Abitibi project is, but if it was, you know, X and Y on an alternative was higher, then it would be the difference between the two that would be the incremental capture, if that makes any sense.

MR. ELSON:  In this case, there would be a free rider rate that is greater than zero?

MR. MACLEAN:  If it made any economic sense for them, then I think your theory is correct.  It would be a free rider rate greater than zero.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Another existing supplier referred to in that interrogatory is the Cambridge landfill?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  That is in Union's area.

MR. ELSON:  Does that landfill supply Gerdau Ameristeel?

MR. GOULDEN:  I believe so, subject to check.

MR. ELSON:  I am going to ask the same question.  If the Cambridge landfill were to decide to sell biomethane to Union Gas, would that result in a free rider rate that is greater than zero?

MR. GOULDEN:  I am not sure I can add to Mr. Maclean's answer.  I think what he said was not necessarily, because there would be significant -- there could be significant investment required in order to make that supply of biogas viable, pipeline-quality biomethane.

MR. ELSON:  Can you agree that the resulting greenhouse gas reductions would be less than the amounts that you have included in column (g) of table 1, that we were looking at earlier?

MR. MACLEAN:  I guess we would go back to the previous example and maybe just try to make this perfectly clear.

Our understanding, if you look at the top of page 11 of that exhibit, is that this particular operation would continue to produce gas until about 2019.

And it's currently 2012, and so when we look at the economics of this, it doesn't, from an economics point of view, seem to be highly probable that this would occur, because you would invest the capital -- which is designed to last for 20 years -- on a project that, by the time you are up and running, you would only run for four or five or maybe six years.

So from a practical point of view, it doesn't seem to be logical that someone would do this, but in theory, if for whatever reason they did do what you are suggesting that they would do, then your assumption that there would be a free ridership of greater than zero and emissions, total net gain of emissions captured, less than what is in that table would be correct, if that makes sense.

MR. ELSON:  The distinction I am trying to draw here - that does make sense - the distinction I am trying to draw is between an existing supplier and a new supplier.

If you have an existing supplier of biomethane and the gas is already being collected and used for energy use, if that existing supplier were to participate in your program, the greenhouse gas reductions would be significantly less than a new supplier; is that right?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, subject to the efficiency explanation that we gave, that it would depend on if you're comparing apples to apples, from an efficiency point of view.

But again, in theory what we're suggesting is that it doesn't seem to make a lot of practical economic sense for that to be the case.  But if there was an outlier and there was some reason that somebody wanted to do that, then you are correct.

MR. ELSON:  Another existing biomethane supplier is Toronto's Keele Valley landfill site; is that right?

MR. MACLEAN:  We are aware that the Keele Valley land site is producing electricity under contract.

MR. ELSON:  And according to the Board Staff Interrogatory No. 8, the OPA has contracted for the purchase of electricity produced by biomethane.

MR. GOULDEN:  What reference was that?

MR. ELSON:  That is Board Staff Interrogatory 8, which is at tab 3 of the reference book.

MR. MACLEAN:  I am assuming that is this one.

MR. ELSON:  The reference to the interrogatory response may not be necessary.

The simple question is whether OPA has contracted for the purchase of electricity produced by biomethane.

MR. GOULDEN:  Sorry.  We are a little bit confused.  It wasn't specifically referenced in the interrogatory response, but we do see that, at page 13, it appears to have an OPA contract.

MR. ELSON:  If the Board approves your proposed programs, would biomethane electricity suppliers be allowed to sell their biomethane to Enbridge or Union, if that was more economically profitable for them?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Again, Mr. Elson, I have to just ask for some clarity.

The reference is page 13 of your materials.  It refers to the Keele Valley land site to generate landfill gas.  It doesn't refer to biomethane, particularly.



MR. ELSON:  I apologize.  I have also moved on from Keele to suppliers under OPA contracts.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  I am just asking generally about them.  My apologies.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And are they biomethane suppliers or biogas suppliers?

MR. ELSON:  That's a good question.

MR. GOULDEN:  Sorry, what was your question?

MR. ELSON:  The question is about biomethane or biogas electricity suppliers and whether they would be allowed to sell to Enbridge or Union under your program, as an example of an existing supplier, if that were economically profitable for them.

MR. MACLEAN:  I think the narrow technical answer is we don't know the OPA contract terms and whether or not they're able to break -- for lack of a better word -- their arrangement with the OPA.

But again, we would come back to -- it doesn't seem to us, from a practical sense, to make a lot of sense, if you already have an existing project that has got a targeted 11 percent rate of return, to then invest more capital to attempt to attain the same rate of return with a different solution.

MR. ELSON:  The distinction --


MR. MACLEAN:  You would, in effect, have invested twice.

MR. ELSON:  In that case, because the greenhouse gas reductions would be significantly less in the case of an existing supplier, and you've only -- you've described them as being outliers and would probably not participate in your program anyways, would Enbridge or Union be willing to commit that they will not pay a price premium for biomethane from projects that were in existence before May 2012?

MR. MACLEAN:  It's theoretically possible that what you're positing could occur.

We don't actually see it occurring, and moreover we are reluctant, because we don't know what might actually happen with other people's programs and their rules.

So to us, it seems rather exclusionary to say that if you have something else and then those rules change and that business case falls apart, that then you would never collect that methane and never do anything with it.

So it seems to us to put in a hard exclusion would perhaps be the wrong thing to do, while we still recognize the principle that you are getting at, is that you don't want to encourage people to do something that they would otherwise do.

And what we're suggesting here is that if you look at the mechanics of the program and the cost structure of the program and the comparison to other existing programs, it is very, very unlikely that someone would actually do what you're suggesting that they would do.

But we hesitate to put a firm cap, because what -- we can't predict the future with other people's contracts.  What if things do change?  Are we suggesting that that proponent, with that source of supply, would never be able to do anything within our program?  That doesn't make any sense to us.

MR. ELSON:  Would you agree to not pay a price premium for existing projects, you know, except for the exceptional circumstances that you are referring to?

MR. GOULDEN:  I'm not sure how that question is any different than the first one.  We are suggesting we think it is unnecessary, and consequently we are not prepared to agree at this point to that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is this a convenient time for a break, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  This would be a convenient time.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If you are moving on to a new area?

MR. ELSON:  Maybe I will ask one more question just on this topic.

Assuming that Enbridge and Union do not make that commitment, if an existing supplier were to apply under the program, would there be anything that you could do to stop them or to not approve their application because you know that it wouldn't lead to any additional greenhouse gas reductions?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]


MR. GOULDEN:  We just don't see that this obligation is necessary, based on our responses.  It is theoretically possible, but it seems highly unlikely, and we are not sure why we would want to limit the flexibility of a program for a theoretical-type rationale.

MR. ELSON:  So you said that you won't commit to it, but assuming that that is the case, if someone were to apply, would you be able to, you know, down the road, not allow them to participate in the program because there will be no greenhouse gasses resulting from it, or a lesser amount if an existing supplier were to apply?

I guess the question is:  Would you have the discretion to do so?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]


MR. MACLEAN:  Frankly, we have been struggling with the words to properly articulate our position.

You know, we're trying to do the right thing here.  We're trying to introduce a program that balances the cost impact on our customers, and provides the benefits and rewards that we anticipate.

You are asking a scenario that, you know, we would put into an extreme outlier position.  We are hesitant to say exactly what we would do, but I think we would always reserve the right to try to fall back on our first principles, which is to do the right thing for our customers, to do the right thing for cost control and do the right thing for making this program work.

So what we would do I think would depend upon the particular circumstances of any individual extreme outlier, and I think that is the best answer that we can give you now.

MR. ELSON:  I think what you're saying is that you would have the discretion to disallow an application where it is an existing supplier and there would be no greenhouse gas reduction benefits, if you felt that that was appropriate?

MR. MACLEAN:  No, I don't think that is what we're saying.  I don't think we're saying that we are asking for the power to disallow that in the case of an existing supplier of biogas to some other contract.

I think we're reserving judgment on exactly what we would do, because I don't think we would know what to do unless we knew the exact circumstances of this extreme outlier situation.

MR. ELSON:  I guess what I am trying to make sure is that we're not setting up something with not perfect knowledge right, now, and down the road, if it turns out that people do find this to be economically profitable to participate in your program even though they're existing suppliers, would you be essentially forced to take them on, or would you have the ability or the right to or the discretion to turn those applications down?

Are we setting something up now that we can't change?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  I don't think we can really add to our answer.  I am not sure that the way we've designed the program would necessarily preclude any ability to come forward to the Board or otherwise seek some sort of direction.

MR. ELSON:  I think now would be a good time to break.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  We will break until 11:20.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:01 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:24 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I am going to ask a couple of questions about cost of greenhouse gas reductions from large landfills.

A significant portion of the greenhouse gas reductions from the proposed programs arise because methane would be captured and burned, rather than vented to the atmosphere; is that right?

MR. MACLEAN:  Sorry, we really apologize.  We are still kind of getting organized with our paper.

Could you repeat the question?

MR. ELSON:  Of course.  A significant portion of the greenhouse gas reductions from the proposed programs arise because methane would be captured and burned, rather than vented to the atmosphere?  I believe that is the emission reduction?

MR. MACLEAN:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  If you could refer again to the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book, which is Exhibit K1.2, and in particular at tab 4 of our document book, page 14, this is VECC Interrogatory No. 3 and I'm going to read the marked passage here.

It says:
"In June 2008, amendments to Ontario Regulation 232/98 and Revised Regulations of Ontario 1990 Regulation 347 under the Environmental Protection Act resulted in requirements for all landfills emitting in excess of 1.5 million cubic metres to collect landfill gas and flare it or use it in a manner that achieves a similar end.  These requirements had previously applied only to landfills emitting in excess of 3 million cubic metres and to those landfills that were new and expanding."

Is that statement correct?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  It is in our evidence, at page 7 of the common evidence.

MR. ELSON:  If the Board approves your proposed biomethane procurement programs, will landfill operators that are legally obligated to collect landfill gas and flare it be eligible to sell their biomethane to Enbridge and/or Union at a premium price relative to conventional natural gas?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, provided they meet the requirements of the program for gas supply quality.

MR. ELSON:  And if that were the case, would you agree that there would be a substitution reduction, but no emissions reduction?

MR. MACLEAN:  If they're already collecting and flaring the gas, then you are correct.

MR. ELSON:  If you could refer, again, to tab 1 of the reference book, at page 3, the cost of the greenhouse gas emissions from such a large landfill would be in column (f)?

MR. GOULDEN:  That's correct, provided there would be no emission reductions, as we just discussed.

MR. ELSON:  And the greenhouse gas reductions would be in column D, as opposed to column E?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  So for a large landfill, the greenhouse gas reductions are significantly smaller in comparison to, say, a small landfill, and the costs would be higher in comparison?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  It depends on the circumstances of the landfill, whether the gas is already captured and flared.  If it is already captured and flared, then it would only be a substitution; it wouldn't be an emission reduction.

The only thing I would add, to clarify a little bit more, is the price is structured also that it is volume-based.  So there is the break point where a landfill operator would get a lower price, if they in fact were a very large landfill.

MR. ELSON:  You have anticipated my next question, actually, which is whether Enbridge or Union would be willing to commit to pay a lower price to large landfills that are already capturing and flaring their biomethane, that would, in particular, reflect the lesser greenhouse gas reductions.

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  We have designed the program on the basis of, if you will, a return on capital, so the project needs to be viable.

So for a project to be viable, it needs to recover its capital invested and its operating costs.  We have designed the structure such that the further you go out, more units of production, the less price you get, which is why the break points are there.

And ultimately, it is that principle that guides the program, not the direct relationship to the cost, nominal or implied or otherwise, for GHG alone.

MR. ELSON:  Back on table 1 of the Pollution Probe reference book, comparing columns D and E, which would be comparing a large landfill that's collecting and flaring its gas to a small landfill.  Would you agree that the difference in greenhouse gas reductions is, you know, approximately between eight and 10 times' difference?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  With regards to table 1, columns (f) and (g), we weren't attempting to be site-specific or application-specific.

What we were trying to do is identify the upper and lower bound of the greenhouse gas emission impacts.  So clearly some landfills will be on the high end of those values; others may be on the low end.

MR. ELSON:  And the difference between the high and low is about eight to 10 times, if you look at -- I am comparing D and E, in terms of greenhouse gas reductions.

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  It appears to be about eight times, which is 0.51 in column D, relative to 0.428 in column E.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I have one last area of questions, which is around using the cost of greenhouse gas reductions from wind power as a possible benchmark.

I actually have some other questions about table 1, but I think they're probably better posed to the technical panel; for example, the percent of the projects in column (f) and (g) and those sort of topics.  Is that better asked of the technical panel?

MR. GOULDEN:  I think with regards to the percentage of projects in the two columns, we identified this was simply meant to be illustrative of the upper and the lower bounds.

So I am not sure -- well, I am sure we can't help you, but I am not sure the technical panel will be able to help you either, because, again, it was intended to be illustrative.

So what would be the maximum impact, what would be the minimum impact, was the intent of that response.

MR. ELSON:  I guess the follow-up question would be whether if it is possible to calculate an average cost over the entire program incrementally, rather than an upper and lower bound.  But it is a question I am happy to ask the technical panel.  I presume they would be in a better position to answer it, but I just wanted to check before I leave this area.

MR. MACLEAN:  We are not actually sure the technical panel is going to be able to answer the question any better than we can, because ultimately it comes down to how many projects fit into category A and how many projects fit into category B.  It is impossible to determine that with any degree of accuracy right now, because it all depends on which proponents come forward.


At the end of the day, we will go back to the previous comments.  We are facilitating something through providing an economic price that makes it viable for people to produce RNG; right?  So the viability is the key question here economically, and the GHG output, so to speak, from those follows a range of different types of projects, of different sizes and different types.


So it is very difficult for us to establish with any degree of accuracy on what the exact number would be, which is why we gave sort of the two bookends, the higher bookend and lower bookend, and it will be somewhere in between, depending on the mix of the projects.


I am not sure the technical panel is really going to be able to articulate anything more than that.


MR. ELSON:  Of course you can't know with any sort of certainty.  Can you provide a best estimate of -- as you say, which would fit into column (a) and which would fit into column (b)?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think we would -- if you are asking for an undertaking to that effect, I think we would want to wait for you to put that question to the technical panel.


MR. ELSON:  I agree.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Then we would make a determination as to whether the undertaking is appropriate or not.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that's -- this panel has indicated they can't help you.  So wait until the technical panel appears, and assess the undertaking at that point.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. ELSON:  So moving to a wind power as a possible benchmark, if you could please turn to tab 5 of the Pollution Probe reference book?  That is page 17 of the reference book.  This tab shows an estimate of the incremental cost of achieving greenhouse gas emission reductions by building wind turbines to replace the output of Ontario's combined cycle natural gas-fired power plants.  Do you see that there?


MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  Are you familiar with this table?


MR. MACLEAN:  Well, I have seen it.


MR. ELSON:  According to the table, if the commodity cost of natural gas is $8.00 per gigajoule, the cost of achieving greenhouse gas emissions by investing in wind power is $86 per tonne?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Elson, could you help us with what the source of this document is?


MR. ELSON:   This is a document that Pollution Probe created that collates and calculates some figures, and we have provided it to Union and Enbridge and have asked whether they agree with the numbers there.  And I am going to go through the numbers and ask them that same question here on the record.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So you provided the document to the applicants?


MR. ELSON:  That's correct, and also to the parties in our reference book.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So they would have received - the rest of the parties would have received this over --when would they have received it?


MR. ELSON:  The rest of the parties received it last week.  I believe it was Friday.  And the applicants received it earlier than that.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Are there any comments from any of the parties with respect to this document?  Okay.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chair, I am noting, I just noticed that -- I took some comfort that it is all footnoted and it's from OPA's numbers, so I have no problem with it, obviously.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, we will -- the Board is wary of documents that come in through cross-examination materials that are novel documents, that really are evidence.  So with that caveat in mind, proceed.


MR. ELSON:  I think that it is important for me to ask, then, whether either of you have any issues with the calculations here, or with the sources of the figures.


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]


MR. GOULDEN:  We can follow the arithmetic that has been done on this document.  We can't attest to the validity of all of the assumptions.  We haven't tested all of that, but we have sort of followed the math.


MR. ELSON:  Would you say the table provides reasonable estimates of achieving greenhouse gas emission reductions by investing in wind power?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]


MR. MACLEAN:  There's two parts to our response on this.  From an implicit point of view and from a methodology point of view, we follow the logic and we don't have any issues with respect to the logic that is being applied here, and it could be used -- you could imply that this is a surrogate for the value of this.


However, neither of us have personally validated the numbers, and, therefore, we can't attest to the actual mathematics behind it.


MR. ELSON:  But you follow the logic in the calculations?


MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, we do follow the logic and we do follow the calculations, and we do accept that you could imply that that is the value based upon the methodology that you have used.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  So the key to this chart is the last column - and this is the implied greenhouse gas reduction value, or, in other words, the incremental cost of greenhouse gas reductions from wind power - when natural gas is $8.00, the reduction is 86, according to the table?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, we follow that.


MR. ELSON:  And if it is four, then it is 191, and if it is $2.00, then it is $245 per tonne?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, we see that.


MR. ELSON:  Now, do you agree that this would provide a good or reasonable benchmark to help determine whether the cost of greenhouse gas reductions from the proposed program are reasonable?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]


MR. GOULDEN:  We'd agree that it is one basis of comparison.  It appears to be, you know, comparing wind.  There is obviously other powers with other values, but it is one basis.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And in terms of that comparison, I will ask you to refer, again, to table 1, which is tab 1 of the reference book.


And in comparison to column (g), would you agree that this comparison suggests that the costs of greenhouse gas reductions for programs following in that column (g) would be significantly lower in comparison to the cost reductions from wind power shown on the earlier chart?


MR. MACLEAN:  Based on all of the underlying assumptions made in the two calculations, yes, we would agree with that.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Poch, I think you are next.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Mr. Chairman, you should have before you a GEC cross exhibit which was distributed to the parties last week and filed under the RESS, and if there is no objection, I would like to get an exhibit number for that.


MR. MILLAR:  K1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  GEC MATERIALS FOR CROSS-EXAMINATION.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This is a one-page document that I am looking at?


MR. POCH:  Correct, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. POCH:  I should say, Mr. Chairman, I think, from what I have heard today, I might be a little longer with this panel, but I will be a little shorter with subsequent panels as a result.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We plan to take our break at around 12:30, I think, Mr. Poch.  So does that fit with your...


MR. POCH:  I will try to work towards that, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Panel, what I've done here in this exhibit is try to just pull together some of the numbers that are at various places in the evidence, and come at this question of the benefit or kind of quantifying the benefit of the greenhouse gas reductions that might flow from your program.  I am coming at it a little differently than we heard from Pollution Probe, just trying to simply compare the cost of the -- the premium cost, if you will, for the gas with what value might be applied to the greenhouse gas reductions.

So let me just take you through this quickly.

The first tranche of numbers there shows the amount of gas and the cap level for each utility and the combined amount.

And let me just ask you to -- if you could confirm those numbers down to the EGDI and Union incremental cost of gas summation of $58 million and change per annum.

Does that conform with your understanding of the evidence?

MR. GOULDEN:  Sorry, we are having trouble seeing if the light is on or off.

Yes, that does -- the Union numbers are referenced in the evidence.

MR. MACLEAN:  The Enbridge numbers look correct, as well.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, I may have confused things slightly.  Under the Union, the last line under Union, I have "Union total annual" and then he put in "in the near term."  And just to warn people about that, that was my wording.

In fact, you would expect to ramp up to these values over the five-year period, if there is a full take-up; correct?

MR. MACLEAN:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  So this might be the cost in the fifth year, if in the fifth year you achieve full take-up?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  That is the maximum costs if all of the volume is taken up.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Okay.  Now, you've also provided us with estimates for the GHG reduction, or the potential in the long term and the short term, and at the cap of 5.5 petaJoules, the combined cap, which I have carried from above.  I wanted to take you through those numbers.

In particular, the third of them, the one at the cap, I take it from the update to Exhibit I-8, schedule 9 has to change; correct?

MR. MACLEAN:  The line which says "annual reduction in CO2 at 5.5 PJs, the cap", that is the number you're referring to?

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that number has been updated.

MR. POCH:  Just today I got from you, just this morning we got from you that update to that exhibit.

And I think the number 14, 1.4 million tonnes of carbon, CO2 equivalent has gone to 2.4 or 24 -- 2,400 kilotonnes; correct?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  The original number was only the Enbridge volumes, and it has been corrected to reflect both the Union and Enbridge numbers.  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  Perhaps I would ask everybody, then, to stroke out "1,400" and put in "2,400" there, and add the word "updated" to the reference.

Proceeding further, then, I have tried to produce kind of two -- in the fashion that you have, two kind of brackets to give a sense of what that is worth in terms of monetizing the greenhouse gas emissions.

I picked -- well, first of all, let me just change the math to bring down that update.

In the first two lines of math there, we've got 1,400 and that should be now 2,400, and my simple calculation is that the 21 million would now be 36 and the 70 would be 120; is that -- follow for you?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And I have simply done some math at -- valuing carbon at $15 a tonne, CO2 equivalent is $15 dollars a tonne and at 50.

Can you gentlemen offer us your understanding of what -- in Canada, at least -- governments are doing in terms of monetizing carbon?  Or are proposing?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. POCH:  I take it you are familiar with the fact that Alberta has a $15 value in place right now?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, we are familiar with that number for Alberta.  I also will note that I am personally familiar with the number that was recently revalidated by the government of British Columbia, that said it would follow through on its commitment to move its carbon tax to $30 a tonne, starting the 1st of July, 2012.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  You may be able to help us with this.  I did hear a news item.  This is not suggested as evidence, but maybe you could help.

I heard that the proponents of major greenhouse gas carbon capture and storage projects -- at least one of those proponents -- is -- last week announced that it wouldn't proceed at $15.  It was inadequate to fund such a project.  Is that your -- are you familiar with that?

MR. GOULDEN:  I think that was in the paper on Friday, as I recall.

MR. POCH:  And so that suggests -- does it suggest to you that that number may have to move up, if it is going to have the public policy impact it is intended to, which is to drive emission reduction?

MR. MACLEAN:  I am not sure we can make a generalized statement, based upon, you know, there is many different ways in which you could address the carbon issue.

But certainly it would appear, for that particular project, that that, in fact, would be the case.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Just to make sure everybody understands this exhibit and you understand this exhibit as I have intended it, the two values there at 15 and 50, leading to $36 million per annum and $120 million per annum, that would be the monetized value of the greenhouse gas reduction, given those two illustrative examples of the value of carbon.  If all you got was the 5.5 petaJoules -- that is your cap under this program -- and this didn't transform the market, didn't leverage development of a natural RNG market going forward; correct?

MR. MACLEAN:  So we would agree with the assessment that you have characterized, that within the cap as we have proposed, that assuming these assumptions are, in fact, correct and that you can monetize the value of those emissions at those dollar figures, that, in fact, would be the range.

The other way, I guess, to look at that, to cull it out, is to say that would be the economic benefit of the program related to GHG.

MR. POCH:  You've already indicated elsewhere in the evidence and today that there are, of course, other benefits, and not to suggest that those don't have value.  I am just focussing on this one for my client's interests.

MR. MACLEAN:  Correct.

MR. POCH:  Then the second pairing of numbers, what I call "the optimistic case" -- that would be a perhaps optimistic and perhaps unrealistic scenario, where not only do you get your cap, but you have transformed the market and all opportunities are seized ultimately.

A very optimistic assumption; correct?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.  That assumes that the total market potential that was identified that is the basis of this report was realized.

MR. POCH:  In your conversation with Mr. Elson, I think you made clear there is a lot of assumptions that go into all of these scenarios.  Your experts have made some assumption about, for example, that proportion that is going to come from landfill gas, large landfill gas that would otherwise flare, small landfill gas from -- and from anaerobic digestion, and ultimately how fast gasification becomes economic.

But given all -- with all of those caveats, can we agree that a realistic projection would be that the effect of the program is likely to fall somewhere between these two bounding examples, illustrative examples?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  I think it is reasonable to assume that that, in fact, is the case.  It would fall somewhere in between.

MR. POCH:  So even with the $15 value for -- implied value for carbon, which you have indicated is something that some governments are already talking about doubling, we're talking about a monetized benefit that is, roughly speaking, equal or greater to than the premium being paid for this gas, just from the GHG reduction?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, I think your statement is accurate, that that is a scenario that could play out.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, the valuation you have placed on the premium, which is the top half of this page or the top third of this page, that's based on your current average cost of gas supply for system gas; correct?

If it is helpful, I can give you some cites for that, but I thought that was...

I was taking that from Exhibit -- under the 242 docket, Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2, and, under the 283 docket, Exhibit C, page 2 -- I'm sorry, page 3.

MR. GOULDEN:  For the Union reference, Mr. Poch, it is based on the Board-approved July 2011 QRAM price; that's correct.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And that is your mix of -- mostly spot gas, I assume at this point, but your mix of gas, not -- increasingly less long-term gas in your mix; correct?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Yes.  And for Enbridge, can you confirm that the numbers you have provided us for the premium, as it were, is based on what your current supply portfolio costs are?

MR. MACLEAN:  Sorry for the delay.  We are actually sharing books here, but that's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Do either of the utilities maintain any long-term contracts in their portfolio?  I know the Board has urged you to move away from reliance on long-term contracts.

MR. GOULDEN:  It's my understanding we don't, Mr. Poch, but I am not an expert.

MR. POCH:  Right.  That's fine.  I didn't reproduce this, but the cite is Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 5, where you have provided one of the parties with your -- with futures prices.  I guess they're Henry Hub futures as they were earlier this year.  Let me just pull that up for you.

MR. GOULDEN:  Mr. Poch, there are a couple of references to price in the interrogatory responses, if it is helpful.

MR. POCH:  I have CME Exhibit -- CME No. 5, where you have provided both a table and a chart of the historic gas price.  I think it is probably --


MR. GOULDEN:  There is also another reference in Direct Energy No. 7, if it is helpful.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Just to sum up there, I see, as of February, the futures price going out to 2024 is approximately one-and-a-half to one-and-three-quarters times the near-term price.  Does that accord with your understanding?

MR. GOULDEN:  At Exhibit I, 6.5, page 3, the table indicates at February 2024 a price of $6.806 US per million BTUs, I believe, and the March 2012 price in the same table is $2.621 US per annum BTU.

MR. POCH:  Oh, two-point.  So we are talking three times higher once you got out that far?

MR. GOULDEN:  I don't have my calculator.  It is probably two-and-a-half.

MR. MACLEAN:  I think it is probably closer to two-and-a-half, yes.

MR. POCH:  Fair enough.  To the extent that futures markets are some indication of what the market thinks the price of gas is going to be in the future, would you agree that the numbers you have calculated for your premium, the premium that you're asking customers to pay, are actually overstated; that if gas prices trend more or less towards this prediction in the futures contracts, the premium customers are actually going to have to pay, it's going to decline over time, significantly?

MR. GOULDEN:  I think we can say that our assumptions are conservative, and, if gas prices increase, as you have indicated, based on a futures forecast, then the premium will be less, much less significant.

MR. POCH:  Right.  That is the only evidence we have about future gas costs; correct?  I am unaware of any other evidence that has been filed in this proceeding.

MR. GOULDEN:  The only other evidence is at Direct Energy, so I-7-7, where we indicated a price forecast for the US energy administration.  So I-7-7, page 2, which indicates a 2012 price in US dollars per million BTUs of $6.59.  In 2021, that would be $8.68.

MR. POCH:  All right.  So, again, an upward trend, not as significant as in the futures market?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, I think you agreed with Ms. Chaplin's proposal to you that the way you've designed your program, you've kind of worked backwards from your polling analysis of what customers, on the whole, accept as a reasonable premium for the benefits of this program.

And that has added -- that's the constraining factor for how much you can spend on -- you feel you can spend on this program; correct?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, that's correct.  And we felt that customers' perspectives on this was most central to our overall application.

MR. POCH:  If bill impact were not a constraint, do you think a higher volume cap would be desirable to better ensure the market development?  I'm not suggesting that bill impact isn't a constraint.  I'm just saying if it were not.

MR. GOULDEN:  In theory, yes.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  So going back to what we discussed a moment ago, which is that your premium projection is likely conservative, if the Board were to find that it's not unreasonable to suggest the price of gas is going to go up somewhat and, therefore, the premium goes down, and if we were to hold at the same bill impact constraint, that would allow you to increase how much volume you purchase under this program; correct?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  In theory, yes, but that's not what we're seeking.

MR. POCH:  I understand.  I'm wondering if you would have any objection if the Board, rather than approving a particular price for the purchase of the gas, were to approve a limiting bill impact such that in the event gas prices go up, that would give you more flexibility to be able to go after more RNG.  Would that be a problem for you?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  We've designed our program and our application to be administratively simple.  One of the reasons we designed it to be administratively simple was there would be full transparency.  We would know what the potential maximum impact would be on customers.

So while we could do that -- and we're not saying we won't do that -- we just note that, you know, every quarter the price could change and the volumes could change and all of that stuff.

So what we wanted to do was to take a snapshot and use what we considered to be a conservative set of assumptions with regards to the customer impact, and that way we would be limiting impacts.

But we could certainly, you know, put some bells and whistles on it.  We are just not sure that is really -- would add a lot of value.

MR. POCH:  I can appreciate you wouldn't want to be changing the program every month when the price of gas changes.  So let me ask you -- let's turn to that question.


In Exhibit -- you don't need to turn this up -- in Exhibit B1 at page 21, you say it might take more than two years for a project to get on-line.  Is my understanding correct, though, that a participant like the FIT program that OPA runs, a participant would actually contract with you before they're -- well before they're on-line; before they start investing capital they're going to contract with you; correct?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So that after a period of a couple of years, for example, you might have a number, you would hope to have a good number of parties contracted with you, although you wouldn't expect that many of them would yet be on-line?

MR. MACLEAN:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, the way that OPA's run the FIT program at the government's behest is to have a two-year review.  We've just come through the first of them.

As we discussed earlier, the price has come down.  A bunch of rules has changed.

I am wondering why, given the kinds of uncertainties we have just discussed with the price of gas and so on, which is going to affect both what it is costing your customers and what the attraction is for participants, I am wondering why -- or I am wondering if you would object to the notion of having some kind of periodic review, perhaps halfway through -- one review halfway through your program, to see if adjustments could improve the program, perhaps increase the caps, if it is possible to do so without increasing bill impact and so on.

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]


MR. POCH:  Let me be clear.  I am not suggesting we have another hearing.

What I would be suggesting is if the Board could tell you the constraints that most concern it -- for example, bill impact -- and say:  Come back in two-and-a-half years and refile and respect those constraints, if you can improve your program result.

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  We went with a five-year window for contract acceptance because we wanted to be able to maximize the opportunity for a number of different producers in a number of different categories to participate.

As you noticed, one of the issues is that it could take, you know, potentially 18 months, two years, for a project to even become approved and up and running.

So that's a bit of a constraint, and when we looked at five years, we said:  Well, we need to account for that.  We need to account for the lag upfront, and then you also need to account for having a sufficient number of projects to actually derive some learnings from it.

When you look at this, it is really a package as a whole.

So you started, I think, with, you know, gas pricing, and if there was a change in gas pricing in the next couple of years, what that might do.  And that might be one lever that goes into the overall design of the program, but there is a whole bunch of different levers.

So we designed the program for a reasonable period of time, so that after five years you would have a reasonable number of projects of a number of different types - agricultural, municipal, landfill, and so on and so forth - and that a sufficient number of them would have been in operation for a reasonable period of time to draw some conclusions.

So this is why we designed it on five years.  And we don't really think that there's going to be a huge amount of requirement to address each one of those factors between zero and five years, but we are not absolutely dead set against it.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  So it is a proposal which you could live with; you are not proposing it yourself?


MR. MACLEAN:  That's correct.  And we would be mindful of any kind of review, really the balance of the cost and effort of the review versus the value that it provides, by informing market participants.

MR. POCH:  Sure.  Okay.  Just touching on something that Pollution Probe was pursuing this morning, this question of -- I guess it is part of the question of free ridership, which is where you have entities that are already capturing gas, biogas or landfill gas, and doing something with it.  And they were suggesting to you that you might want to exclude them from the program.

And your response was, I think I can sum up, saying it is just not a practical concern from what you can see, because the capital costs for these people to participate would be a barrier, given that they have already sent capital into their alternative use for that gas.

I think you spoke about outliers, and I guess I am concerned that there could be a situation where somebody who is in that situation, but -- for example, Abitibi or whoever they're selling gas to closes up shop, what have you.

I am wondering if a more flexible constraint would be something you could live with, which is simply that you would exclude from the program, existing, I will call them, generators, but I am using the term very loosely, unless they can demonstrate that their participation would lead to incremental use of gas, either because they're expanding their production or because their alternative use has disappeared, but a very open-ended, more flexible constraint like that.


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  I think to a large extent we will stick with our previous answer that, you know, when you look at outlier situations, is really hard to -- really hard to assess, because, in fact, they are outliers.

But I just wanted to use one of the words that you just articulated as an example of this.

One of the scenarios you gave was expand.  So if, for instance, you have a significant source of supply right now and some of that supply is already being done or directed towards electricity, should you be precluded from expanding your operation and putting in a different facility?


And so that's just an example of you have to be really careful on how you write those types of rules, that we don't do the wrong thing in an effort to ensure that, you know, on day one you can never accept anything that could ever be a free rider; do you close the door to logical business things and creativity of the marketplace?


So we would prefer not to close the door right at the outset, and instead rely upon our good judgment to deal with any extreme outliers as and if -- or if they were to occur.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Well, then let me just rephrase it, then, even more gently.  Would you object to being given the discretion, as Mr. Elson put it, to reject applications where the company's view is that there would be little societal benefit?

MR. MACLEAN:  No, we would not object to that.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I just wanted to ask you a bit about some of the uncertainty that arises from this question of gas costs. Perhaps it was implied in our discussion earlier, but let me be explicit.

Would you agree that there is likely an asymmetry about where gas costs are going?  If you had to predict, it is more likely they're going to go up than down?  Conventional gas costs.


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. POCH:  That is what the market is telling us?

MR. GOULDEN:  It might be helpful, for illustrative purposes, if you look at our response to CME question 5(e), where we have identified the changes in WACOG over the last ten-some years.

On the basis of that, I would say, first of all, no one can predict natural gas prices with any certainty; otherwise, we wouldn't all be in this room.

And, secondly, the world has changed a number of times over the period that is identified in that WACOG graph.  So, for example, the peak is as a result of hurricane season.  We would never have expected prices to be where they are.  We had never heard of shale gas a few years ago.

So lots of stuff has changed.  The only thing we know is prices will be different than we project, and they're going to be all over the place.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I think you have already agreed that lowering -- if the cost of gas does go up, then, in effect, the premium for RNG goes down?

MR. MACLEAN:  All other factors being held equal, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Would you agree that if your program is successful and brings about transformations in the RNG market - that is, things like accelerated technology development, competition from the technology suppliers, Ontario know-how, and so on - you would expect your program to help bring the price of RNG -- not under your program, but RNG that is going to occur post-program, help bring it down or at least accelerate that market's maturity?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, that's correct.  And we dealt with that in some more detail in our response to Board Staff question 6, where we identified sort of how all of those elements play out.

We did identify four elements.  One was around natural gas prices.  One was around technology development and the changes that could impact costing.  The third was around producer sophistication, and the fourth was around the carbon price.

MR. POCH:  And if conventional gas costs go up -- whether or not conventional gas costs go up, but RNG offerings come down in price, then it is more likely that we will see a capture, ultimately a capture, closer to the full potential we talked about on that page I handed out over the long term; that is, beyond the program cap?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  I think it is reasonable -- your assumption is reasonable, that if the changes that we would anticipate with respect to technology and efficiency and so on occurred, that that would facilitate more capture of more volume in the future.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, if the conventional gas price were to increase significantly, you might have potential for free riders in your program, because they could otherwise have simply produced -- they could produce at a competitive price.  Is that fair?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  With regards to where we are in the program, we're really just getting the program up off the ground.  There is very limited RNG production in the province.  So we're not sure down the road what that might all sort of lead to.

But, again, what our intention of this application is, to enable the market, to get it up and establish the foundation such that it can sort of stand on its own two feet in the future.

MR. POCH:  I am thinking of the situation, 15 years out, the price of conventional gas is equal or greater than what RNG producers can produce for.  At that point, technically, you might have some free riders in your program?

MR. MACLEAN:  Well, I think we understand your question now.  What we would say and what I am saying is that our program is designed to last for five years.  So the conditions that you are talking to are at a time frame beyond the duration of our program acceptance.

So in the longer term, if you had a program that you were accepting new projects for 20 years or what have you, then the conditions that you are describing would likely occur, and you would have a material -- or you could have a material free ridership issue.

But in the nearer term, which we have defined as five years, the basis of this program, we don't anticipate that type of materiality to occur.

MR. POCH:  But you've got a five-year window for accepting contracts, but those contracts are 20-year contracts.

MR. GOULDEN:  So to build on to Mr. Maclean's comments, what you may be referring to is, if in fact the market price of natural gas is greater than the price that we are paying for RNG, then we would expect that we would hold those producers to the 20-year contract.

So there would be a benefit to customers because, in fact, the price that they're being -- that is being paid to those producers is less than the market price.  So they're saving some market dollars.

MR. POCH:  I understand.  So in fact, though, it is kind of maybe even more elegant than that, because if the conventional gas price goes up high enough, that also suggests that -- in a more general sense than you said it, the higher the conventional price, the less premium customers are in fact paying.

So to the extent that there are any -- is any potential for free riders, that would come with a concomitant reduction in what customers have been asked to pay.  There's a nice hedge there.

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, if you're looking at the long-term implications of signing something now that might go 20 years, you might reach a point that, you know, you might choose to define as crossover, where the net benefit now goes to the customer.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I think I can stop there, Mr. Chairman.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That concludes your cross-examination?

MR. POCH:  It does.  Thank you, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Gardner, we have -- our target, and it is not a very tight one, is 12:30.  I have looked at your estimate.  Do you want to start and finish before the break?

[Laughter]

MR. GARDNER:  Is that what the estimate says, Mr. Chair?  I apologize.  I believe it was around half an hour.  I could be mistaken.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, the upper end.

[Laughter]

MR. GARDNER:  I will piggyback on what Mr. Poch said and just say that most of my questions, having heard what went on this morning, will be for this panel, I believe, so maybe more around 20 minutes, half an hour.  So I could start.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In which case, I think we will take our break so your cross-examination is not fractured.  So we will take our break and come back at 1:30.

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:22 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:40 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  Mr. Gardner?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Gardner:


MR. GARDNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.  I think most of my questions should relate to the purpose of the program in general, but I have a few, as well, regarding pricing and environmental attributes.  So I will start with the purpose questions.

I believe that, Mr. Maclean, you stated this earlier, and it is in your evidence, as well, the common evidence of the Applicants, that the objective of the proposed program is to lay a foundation so that a viable market can develop; is this correct?


MR. MACLEAN:  That's correct.


MR. GARDNER:  So do you agree that a viable market requires both a robust supply and a robust demand?


MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, I think I would agree with that characterization.


MR. GARDNER:  As the program is proposed, the demand for biomethane is provided exclusively by Enbridge and Union; is that correct?


MR. MACLEAN:  That's correct.


MR. GARDNER:  Thank you.  And Enbridge and Union, through this program, mandatorily pass the premium on to consumers, so that the consumers have no real choice but to pay this premium; is this correct?


MR. MACLEAN:  The program as we've constituted it is applicable to system gas customers.  So within that context, yes, we're asking for system gas customers to pay for this program.

MR. GARDNER:  Mandatorily?

MR. MACLEAN:  Correct.

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you.  Correct me if I'm wrong, but the program as proposed is designed to stop after this five-year contract acceptance window; is that correct?


MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.  The two factors are either meeting the volume threshold or the five-year window.

MR. GARDNER:  So a certain amount of petaJoules or the five-year window is the --


MR. MACLEAN:  Correct.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  Are there any measures within the proposed program to address what happens after the end of this program, whether it is after the five years or the certain amount of volume?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  I think we have been struggling a little bit by what you mean by "measures."

The program is designed to last five years.  It has a number of components to it.  The only measures, per se, that would last beyond five years is the contracts that were signed themselves within that first five-year period.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  Are you aware that my client, Bullfrog Power, is a renewable energy retailer?


MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, we are.

MR. GARDNER:  Are you aware that Bullfrog sells a biomethane product across the country, but also in Ontario?


MR. MACLEAN:  We understand that Bullfrog sells a product with environmental attributes.  It is not what we would define as a renewable natural gas product within the context of our application.


MR. GARDNER:  But certainly Bullfrog is selling the renewable attributes from RNG facilities in Ontario?  Or to Ontarians, I should say.  Is that your understanding?


MR. MACLEAN:  So just to clarify, we're not aware of Bullfrog Power acquiring RNG within the province of Ontario.

Nor are we aware of anyone selling cleaned biomethane injected into the gas distribution systems of the two gas companies that are represented here today.


MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  That's fine.  Thank you.  So neither Enbridge nor Union have presented to the Board any formal sort of examination of the impact of this program on the retail market for biomethane, have they?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  Just to be clear, from our perspective there is no renewable natural gas marketplace in the province of Ontario.

We have not conducted, I think -- with your words -- a formal analysis, but we have outlined some of the pros and cons of various options, including options related to third-party marketers within our response to Board Staff No. 5.


MR. GARDNER:  You haven't -– okay.  Thank you.  Neither Union nor Enbridge have conducted an examination or sort of foreseen what impacts may be on what is an emerging retail market for biomethane, though?  You haven't proposed that to the Board, was my first question.

My second question, this question right now is whether you have conducted an examination of what you foresee or what exists right now, because I am not going to bring in evidence, but I don't agree that there isn't an emerging retail market at present.

MR. GOULDEN:  I think what Mr. Maclean said was there is no current market for biomethane commodity in the province.

We understand that your client has a product whereby they're selling the environmental attributes, but it's -- in our definition of our program, that is not, in fact, the same thing.


MR. GARDNER:  And you haven't included anything to foresee, though, as well?  I mean, to foresee what could be an emerging market?  That's basically my question.


MR. MACLEAN:  I'm not sure I would characterize it that way.

I think our point of view is that nothing within our program precludes it working in conjunction with a third-party marketer designing, developing and implementing their own program within the province of Ontario.

So I guess what I'm saying is they're not necessarily mutually incompatible.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  Certainly, though, you haven't given any analysis or you haven't put forth any framework or suggested rules on how the two types of markets, this voluntary -- if I can use that word -- market versus your proposed mandatory program could co-exist?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  Frankly, this is an area that we've struggled with, if I can use those terms.  There is no existing RNG marketplace, and we believe that it is very difficult to build an RNG marketplace exclusively through the third-party marketers right now.  And we think that they have some challenges in being able to do that.


At the same time, we do see that the future should hold where both the utility program and third-party marketer programs could co-exist.  And in fact, if you asked us from a longer-term point of view what we would like to see happen after five years or however long, I think we would all agree -- certainly Enbridge and Union would agree -- that it would be beneficial in the long term for other programs and other marketers to exist and participate in the marketplace.

The challenge is:  How do you do that right at the outset, when the marketplace doesn't exist?


MR. GARDNER:  Can you give me some examples of how you might foresee such a challenge being overcome, such as sort of a co-existence taking place?

I mean, some of the questions may be allocation of distribution capacity between the mandatory and the voluntary demand, if there is insufficient distribution capacity in certain areas.

Or, you know, have you looked at transportation rates for the biomethane for those in the voluntary market?

And thirdly, have you looked at what service utilities would have to provide to generators for the retail market, and at what cost?   You know, testing quality issues?

These are all issues I am kind of bringing up.  I know it is sort of a statement, but are those three things, allocation of distribution capacity, transportation rates and testing quality, at least something that you agree would be very, very important to consider, given that you are coming up with such a significant program and there might be an emerging market out there on the voluntary side, the retail market?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  We talked about -- we indicated in our response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 4 the concept we had with regards to sort of the business models and where we -- what we had explored with regards to what you have referred to.  So that might be helpful.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay, thank you.  Are you aware of sort of similar programs within the electricity sector, renewable electricity across North America, specifically in the States, where utilities have the right or requirement to procure certain amounts of renewable electricity?

MR. GOULDEN:  That's I think what you had referred to as a RPS or renewable portfolio standard.

MR. GARDNER:  Right.

MR. GOULDEN:  We are generally familiar.  We didn't think it was applicable in the province of Ontario, but we are generally familiar that that occurs in some jurisdictions in the States.

MR. GARDNER:  So you are aware that there is a parallel between the mandatory and voluntary markets?  They seem to co-exist, and yet you haven't really done an examination of those to apply to this, this program?

MR. MACLEAN:  No, I think our answer is that we're aware that voluntary and involuntary markets can co-exist in different marketplaces.  We're at a time of formation with respect to this marketplace, and we believe that it is important for us to bring a substantive and large enough piece of the marketplace to bear to actually create the marketplace.

We're hopeful that over time that will, in fact, allow other programs to exist.  We note that there is nothing to stop third-party retailers from bringing renewable natural gas into the province of Ontario or products with environmental attributes from either in or outside of the province of Ontario and to market those into this marketplace to customers.

MR. GARDNER:  So you haven't looked at the States for a template to show how utility procurement can be designed to spur on or support development of a voluntary market; is that correct?

MR. GOULDEN:  That's correct.  And based on our knowledge of what we were able to determine about RPS-type programs in the States, we didn't reach the same conclusion as you did, but we didn't look at it in as much detail as you appear to have --


MR. GARDNER:  Okay, fair enough.

MR. GOULDEN:  -- considered.

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you.  Two more questions on the purpose.  So there is no examination within your proposed program of how mandatory programs can set aside supply volumes as an example for the retail market?  I haven't seen it, but I am just asking if -- correct me if I'm wrong.

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  In our response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 5, we indicated -- we provided a table where we looked at a number of options.  I think the option that you are referring to is the system gas procurement with third party marketer passthrough.  So that was one of the options we considered.

We do note that although many of the options within this table are what I will call either/or options, the option that I have just referred to is really potentially a complementary alternative.  So there is no:  You can't do this and do other things.  So I don't know if that helps but, we did consider that.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay, we have that chart.  Thank you.  One second.  Sorry.

So you haven't considered -- there is an example in New York, and I don't have anything in terms of evidence to give you, but where 95 percent may be the utility's volume that they have set aside, and then 5 percent would be set aside for the voluntary market.  You haven't considered this specific scenario as something that may apply or may be beneficial to Ontario?

MR. MACLEAN:  I wouldn't say that we've looked at perhaps precisely what you're referring to.  But, in spirit, I think we've looked at what you're referring to.

And my colleague here directed us to Board Staff No. 5 and the option of third party marketer passthrough.  And, frankly, from our point of view, that has a number of attractive elements to it.

We're trying to do the right thing here.  We're trying to create a marketplace that will be sustainable over time, and we're trying to use what is within our control to be able to do so, which happens to be our system gas supply portfolio is the mechanism to do so.

But we do not believe that options on the third party marketer side are incompatible with our option.  And so while we didn't necessarily look at something directly, 95/5, and maybe not exactly the mechanism that you're talking about, we did consider, and I think it is in fact noted in the "pros", that is there a possibility -- sorry, it is page 4 of 5 on I-1-5, which is Board Staff No. 5, the option system gas procurement.

If you look at the number of pros that are there, this is what I'm talking about:  Sell through whatever portion of supply third parties wish to buy, reduce the total remaining cost burden on system gas customers, and work in concert with a third party voluntary marketplace.

So we actually considered a number of quite strong positives with respect to this option and how that could work with a system gas portfolio.  And we do agree that it would allow marketers to bring different products into the marketplace.

If you look at it from our perspective, the system gas proposal that we have is, you know, a vanilla one size fits all.  Marketers might be able to package things in a 10 percent blend or a 20 percent blend or 50 percent blend, or whatever it is they wanted to do.

And we liked a lot of aspects of that.  What we came up against really came down to two things.  We weren't sure there really was a mechanism for us to really be able to do this, to effectively resell gas.

And, number two, we're concerned that whatever we did, it would have to be at a sort of passthrough, so that we weren't asking system gas customers to subsidize third party marketer customers.

We decided not to include that in our proposal for the time being, because when you look at all of the options that are available, you can say certain ones have various aspects.  We decided to go with:  What is it that the utility can control, and what is it that we can actually bring to the marketplace?

And we didn't feel that it was incompatible with a third party option, and that that third party option could evolve over time, or, in fact, if there was a mechanism for us to be able to do this, that we would entertain doing so.

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you.  Did Union and Enbridge look to Fortis BC - I know there is a reference to Fortis in the common evidence, I believe - as sort of a template for developing this program?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, we did.

MR. GARDNER:  And I think it is also in the common evidence at page 16, line 19, that Fortis is expected to deliver an amount of 60,000 to 70,000 gigaJoules of biomethane in its distribution system.

Then according to Union's and Enbridge's specific evidence, collectively the program that you propose has a cap of 5.5 petaJoules.  So you will agree with me the size of the program that you propose, as measured in annual volumes, is almost 100 times that of Fortis'; do you agree with me?

MR. GOULDEN:  Can you give us the reference to the Fortis program?  I didn't -- I'm not sure I heard you correctly.

MR. GARDNER:  Sure.  Common evidence page 16, line 19, so Exhibit B, tab 1.

MR. GOULDEN:  Thank you.  I have looked at that reference now, and yes, that was what they were hoping to get to by the end of 2011.

I think their intent generally was to build the program over a longer period of time.  There's a number of differences between what we've proposed and what Fortis has identified.


MR. GARDNER:  Certainly you would agree Fortis' program is much smaller than the one proposed by Union and Enbridge?


MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.  I think, to be as responsible and helpful as we can, we're trying to do the math because the number you referred to is really just the very short-term for a year or two of tariffs and not the full extent of where they expect to go.

But if your question is from a materiality –- is our program designed to be significantly larger than theirs -- the answer is yes.

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you.  I have a few clarification questions about environmental attributes.  There was a response to Bullfrog's interrogatory No. 7.  You note that:
"Union and Enbridge propose to acquire all environmental attributes, including credits for destruction of methane emissions and displacement of conventional natural gas."

You also note that -- and I am quoting here:

"The value the attributes will be accrued to system customers through a deferral account mechanism."

So my question is just if you can provide some clarification on what you mean by this deferral account mechanism, and how you foresee it would work.


MR. GOULDEN:  Our proposal with regards to a deferral account mechanism is, in principle, all of the environmental attribute value will, in fact, accrue to the benefit of those customers who pay for it.

So we would establish a deferral account, and to the extent we -- if and when a market for environmental attributes develops, where, in fact, there is -- where there is a real value, then, in fact, what we would do is we would credit those values, whatever they are, to the deferral account, so that we would then pass on those benefits, whatever they are in whatever year this occurs, to those customers that have paid for it.

So that is the concept.


MR. GARDNER:  Right.  And I understand we're working sort of in a vacuum right now, but that is helpful.  Thank you.

Then I think this is in response to Shell's IR No. 14.  You don't need to flip to it.  I will just ask you the basic terms within it.

If you could explain for me what you mean by "retire and monetize the attributes and apply the benefits to gas purchase costs."  It may be a similar answer, but...

MR. GOULDEN:  I think it is intended to be a similar answer.


We recognize there is a lot of things that have to be worked out with regards to environmental attributes and what the rules are as they develop, because, in fact, they don't -- you know, they're still developing, but the intention in our response to that interrogatory, as well, is whatever the benefits are, they will accrue to the benefit of those customers that pay for the program through a deferral account mechanism.

MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  I might be mixing up concepts here, but is there a suggestion that Union and Enbridge might sell environmental attributes to the public in order to monetize them?

MR. GOULDEN:  I think the intention was, again, to just communicate that we would dispose of those, realize the -- effect the monetization and pass through that value to the customers that pay through a deferral account.


So we haven't figured out and -- you know, there is lots to be developed with regards to what that mechanism would look like and how it would work.

What we wanted to be clear was we're passing those benefits on to those that pay for the program.


MR. GARDNER:  Is there another way that you can think of to monetize them, other than selling them?


MR. MACLEAN:  We may be somewhat over our head here, so bear with me, but I can think of at least two ways.

You can sell them, and I'm not sure that selling them retail is the only way of selling them.

But the other way that it could evolve and that certainly some talk has been involved with respect to carbon trading is the utilities might be responsible for putting programs in place with regards to the emissions of their customers.

And so rather than selling them, it might be there might be an opportunity to retire them at some economic value.

MR. GARDNER:  Very helpful.  Thank you.  Okay.  Moving on to pricing; this is my final section of questions.

I appreciate that Union and Enbridge have employed Electrigaz and done a study.  I think it was mentioned earlier that there were nine different scenarios to calculate production costs, to determine this one pricing model.  And I also realize that much of your pricing model is based on -- I think Mr. Goulden said this earlier -- informed by the FIT program.

Is there any other source that you have looked to, besides this report and the FIT itself, to come up with the proposed rates and pricing system?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  With regards to the analysis we used to determine the price, we relied on the Electrigaz work to determine the appropriate costs.

We then applied our judgment -- which is sort of dealt with in a little bit more detail at the top of page 22 of our common evidence -- with regards to doing the balancing act or using the judgment we needed to do to determine what the price looked like as a result of the work done by the costing report.

So the costing report is actually found at appendix 5, Exhibit B, tab 1, appendix 5 -- sorry, the costing report is Exhibit B, tab 1, appendix 4.  The pricing report, which was the analysis and the judgment that we applied, is at Exhibit B, tab 1, appendix 5.

MR. GARDNER:  But correct me if I'm wrong, but those relates to the Electrigaz report itself.

So is there anything outside of what Electrigaz did for you and what you have presumed, based on the FIT as a template that you've gone to, to help with your model for pricing and proposed rates?


In other words -- let me give you an example -- have you looked to the 20 entities that you identified as potential suppliers?  I think it was in response to one of our -- Interrogatory 4 of Bullfrog, you mentioned 20 entities that you have consulted with.


Have you looked to them, to see if they can help inform you as to how your pricing system may unfold?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  Our approach was really to engage a neutral third party in the form of Electrigaz, and, you know, it is fraught with peril to go out and ask for potential proponents to give you a price on what they might require.

So we're informed by, you know, some of our understanding of what's happening with respect to the OPA, and we engaged a consultant to do a cost-based analysis for us.


MR. GARDNER:  Okay.  So your consultation with those 20 potential suppliers didn't include specifics on pricing?  They weren't able to inform you about pricing, give you some actual market data, at least in the biogas sector?


MR. MACLEAN:  I think we will have to defer that question to the technical panel that did most of the interaction with respect to those types of customers.


But I would note that in the absence of a marketplace in Ontario, it would be difficult for me to believe that they would actually know what it would take to build these things.

MR. GARDNER:  Even though they are in a marketplace for biogas and it is somewhat analogous to the biomethane - sorry --


MR. MACLEAN:  Certainly there is a of elements with respect to a similarity between use for electricity and use for direct injection, but unless you have particular experience with the technology and the costs associated with it for actually cleaning up raw biogas to inject it into the distribution system, I don't know how you would be educated around that.

MR. GARDNER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Fraser, do I take it that you don't have questions?


MS. FRASER:  No, I don't.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Who is next?  Mr. Warren?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  I think I am, sir.

Panel, am I right in my understanding that renewable natural gas is not required in order to meet the existing demand for natural gas in Ontario?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, you are correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I don't think you need to turn it up, but in case you need a reference, it is my friend from the LPMA's Interrogatory No. 24.

Am I correct in my understanding that for Enbridge alone, the additional cost, annually, for purchasing renewable natural gas is some $36 million?  Is that right, Mr. Maclean?

MR. MACLEAN:  If you give me a second, I will check the reference.  You said it was LPMA?

MR. WARREN:  Number 24.

MR. MACLEAN:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Answer (b) on that page:
"The annual increase in gas costs based on January 1, 2012 QRAM would be approximately $36.2 million."

Have I read that correctly, Mr. Maclean?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, you have.

MR. WARREN:  So am I correct, can I conclude from the answers to those two questions, that what you are proposing is that system gas customers in Ontario pay $36.2 million a year for gas they don't need?

MR. MACLEAN:  We're suggesting that system gas customers pay that amount of money to acquire a product that gives them the benefits that will accrue to them in the long term.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that answer, but I would appreciate if you would answer my question, which was:  Am I right in understanding that you're asking system gas customers to pay $36.2 million for gas that they don't need?  Yes or no?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  We're asking system gas customers to pay that amount of money to acquire the same amount of comparable renewable natural gas as natural gas.

If you want to constitute it as "don't need" in terms of the total amount of volume and, therefore, what that means from a heat point of view and use of their equipment, then I would agree with you.

MR. WARREN:  Well, it is a little more basic than that, Mr. Maclean.  You have answered my question that there is no need for renewable natural gas.  There is sufficient supply from other sources at the present time; correct?  You have said "yes" to the answer, Mr. Maclean.  I am not sure you need to consult with Mr. Goulden on it, but go ahead if you wish.

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  I think I have answered the question clearly.  There is no supply need for the purposes of running your equipment.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Goulden, could I turn to you?  The number for Union annually I can't find in the evidence.  What would be the comparable increase for Union Gas's system customers to the $36 million in Enbridge's system?

MR. GOULDEN:  I think a reasonable proxy would be found at Mr. Poch's exhibit from this morning, Exhibit K1.3, which indicates a total of $24 million after five years.

MR. WARREN:  I will stay with you for a moment, Mr. Goulden.  Let's take that $20 million and let's extrapolate that.  Now, assume for purposes of my question, that gas costs remain constant as of today.  Am I right, then, if I multiply that $21 million by 20 years, the additional increment that system gas customers would have to pay would be in the neighbourhood of $400 million over the lifetime of those 20-year contracts for this renewable natural gas?

MR. GOULDEN:  I will know how to do this by the time I'm all done, I'm sure.  I think the correct number, Mr. Warren, was 24 million.  And, yes, you are correct, all things being equal, the price not changing, that would be the correct number.

MR. WARREN:  Going back to you, Mr. Maclean, if I were to take the 20-year contracts, all else equal, times $36 million, we're talking about $720 million in additional costs over the 20-year life of the contract; is that correct?

MR. MACLEAN:  Should nothing change with respect to the economics that you have presented, yes, that would be correct.

MR. WARREN:  If I add the two numbers together, we're looking at an additional cost over the course of the 20 years, if the Board approves this, of something like $1.2 billion between the two utilities; is that fair?  I just added the two numbers up, folks.

MR. GOULDEN:  I think that is correct.  The only thing I would put in perspective is that that's a very, very small percentage of our total proposed supply cost over that period of time.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I were to look -- I have looked at, and perhaps I missed it.  I have looked at it a number of times and perhaps I missed it, and you will correct me if I'm wrong.

The question was not put to the respondents of the surveys whether or not they would agree that it was a good thing for the two utilities to spend $1.2 billion over 20 years for a gas that is not required at the moment.

That question was not put to them, was it?

MR. MACLEAN:  The question that was put to them is probably most appropriate put to them in terms of how an individual customer would view it, which is at a cost to themselves.

MR. WARREN:  Well, that assumes does it not, Mr. Maclean, that those folks don't have a broader societal interest, that they're only interested in what it costs them.  That's the assumption which underlies the answer you just gave me; isn't that correct?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  No, we would not say that is correct.  The consumer can extrapolate based upon their effect on themselves to a broader societal interest and a broader cost.  We asked them a question that provides a frame of reference that they can reasonably assess themselves.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Maclean, could you tell me if there was sufficient data provided to them in that survey that they could get to $1.2 billion?  How would they do that based on the information given to them in that survey, Mr. Maclean?

MR. MACLEAN:  We're not sure that individual consumers are equipped with a full understanding of the marketplace and the costs and be able to assess what those kinds of dollar figures on a society-wide basis means.

So we presented something that is meaningful to them within the context of themselves.

MR. WARREN:  Something you assumed was meaningful to them in a context of themselves; is that fair?

MR. MACLEAN:  I think that is a fair assumption.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, am I right, as I read this evidence, Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean, that the structure of the proposal that you have before the Board for its approval is based, in some substantial measure, on your reading of the results of that customer survey?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Certainly the determination of the volume to be purchased in the annual cost per customer is driven by your reading of the results of that customer survey; is that correct?


MR. GOULDEN:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  So it's fair for me to conclude that your reading of the results of the customer survey are critical to what you are presenting to the Board and to what you want the Board to conclude about your proposal.  Is that not fair?

MR. GOULDEN:  I think that is fair.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I could ask you to turn up -- my friend Mr. Hughes will deal with this in far greater detail than I will, but if you could turn up the answer to the CME's Interrogatory No. 9, to which are attached various drafts of the Ipsos-Reid survey?  Can you turn that up for me, please?

MR. GOULDEN:  We have that, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize, panel, members of the Panel.  It isn't paginated, so I am going to ask you to bear with me to work through it.

But one of the attachments to Interrogatory No. 9 is a request for proposal from Enbridge.  Do you see that, Panel?  It is on page 13 -- sorry.  It is the first attachment on page 3.  Do you have that?  I am just trying to work my way through to see if we can find the documents I am going to refer to.  There is a request for proposal dated September 8th, 2010, submitted to Ipsos-Reid.  Do you see that, panel?


MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, we have that.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Following that, there are some e-mail exchanges, and then if I go to page 13, you have a memorandum to Mr. Grant, dated originally September 10th, 2010, from three people at Ipsos-Reid.  Do you see that?


MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  To which is attached, if I go along to page 21, what appears to be a draft of the final form of the questionnaire that was put to folks.  Do you see that?


MS. GUIRY:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, there are headings, and one of the headings is heading G, which appears on page 2 of that document, page 22 of the overall document.


And the first question under G -- and correct me if I'm wrong –- is, and I quote:

"Overall, how concerned are you about each of the following?  Are you very concerned, somewhat concerned, not very concerned, or not at all concerned?"

And then the first is the "current state of the environment," the "future state of the environment," the "effects of global warming/climate change."

Have I read those correctly?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I am going to ask -- this is not a technical question about the survey.  I want to ask about the conclusions which Union and Enbridge draw from that.

Would you and I agree, panel, that questions about your concern over the environment and the future state of the environment are questions about values?


MR. MACLEAN:  Did we interpret the question correctly, that you're saying that concern over the state of the environment and the future state of the environment are most likely questions about values, how people feel about things?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.  Is that not fair?


MR. MACLEAN:  I think often how people feel about things is driven by values.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, would you agree with me that asking a question about fairness is equally a question about values?  Do I regard something as fair?  That's a question about values, is it not?  There is no trick to it, Mr. Maclean.

MR. MACLEAN:  I don't think there is a trick.  I am looking to see which one of us will answer.  Yes, I think fairness is a value that people have.

MR. WARREN:  And would you agree with me -- either Mr. Mr. MacDonald or Mr. Goulden, or both -- that if I am asking, for example, Mr. Hughes to pay money for something he doesn't agree with but I agree with, is a question about whether or not it is fair to have me ask him to do that?

That's a question about fairness, isn't it?


MR. MACLEAN:  I think if you were to ask me about a program where myself, yourself and Mr. Hughes were being asked to invest money, I would interpret it as whether it is fair from my point of view and whether it is fair globally.

MR. WARREN:  Certainly you did not, in this questionnaire, in the survey, ask any of the respondents whether they thought it was fair to require people who didn't agree with this to pay for it?  That was never asked in this questionnaire, was it?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MS. GUIRY:  I don't believe that question was asked.


MR. WARREN:  And can you agree with me that had the question been asked, the answers that would have been given might have been a different one than the results of this survey?

You might have had, for example, a number of people who would have said:  Whatever else I think about this, I don't think it's fair to ask other people to pay for my values.  Right?

MS. GUIRY:  I don't think I can speculate what other people, how people would have answered a different question.  We can only speak to the questions that were posed to them in this survey.

MR. WARREN:  You can't speculate, and you certainly didn't ask the question.  Right?


MS. GUIRY:  We did not ask the question.


MR. WARREN:  Right.  Now, there was, however, an opportunity that was presented in the original draft to ask that question, albeit in a different form.

And if you would turn over the page to page 5 of the draft survey or the marked-up survey, page 25 of what I am talking about, you can see under G-9 it begins at the bottom of 24, goes to the top of page 25.

The text reads:

"If your utility purchased biogas program which its customers can sign up for..."

That is, if it is a voluntary program; that is a correct way of interpreting that?  Do you see the wording I am referring to, panel?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes, I see that wording.  My understanding is that wasn't the final wording of the final question.

MR. WARREN:  I agree with that.  I agree with that.  It says:

"If your utility purchased biogas program which its customers can sign up for, those who sign up would pay an additional price for their consumption of biogas."

Am I right, panel, that that is if the program were voluntary?  People could elect to sign up or not elect to sign up, right?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, panel, have I befuddled you with my question?


MR. GRANT:  It takes me back a long ways.  This is a... but essentially, I think we wanted to make it a clear, simple question, and that is why it's a little shorter than the original question.


MR. WARREN:  It's a little bit more than that, is it not?

Mr. Grant, let's, in this context -- if you just keep your finger on what I am referring you to, and let's take you back -- this is page 25.  Let's take you back to page 13 in the same document.  Just flip back 12 pages.  Got page 13?

MR. GRANT:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And the third -- second full paragraph reads:

"In addition to forecasting demand, findings from the research would be used to assess various pricing scenarios, based on voluntary demand."

And the words "based on voluntary demand" were struck out, Mr. Grant, and they were struck out at your request, right?

MR. GRANT:  The reason for that is originally we were looking at a voluntary plan, and then we looked at an overall system plan.


And that's why the changes were made.  And if you go back to the request for proposal, you can see where that was shown there, as well.


So in fact, we wouldn't be talking about a 2 percent increase.  We would probably be talking about a 40 or 50 percent increase.  And we didn't feel that would have generated enough volume that it would be worth pursuing.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, 50 percent increase in what?


MR. GRANT:  That they would have to pay a much larger increase in their gas bill, with a very small number of people participating on the voluntary basis.


MR. WARREN:  My point, panel -- Mr. Grant in particular -- is that you did not put to the people responding to this survey the option of only the people interested in the program paying for it.  Right?


MR. GRANT:  We didn't.


MR. WARREN:  Ipsos-Reid proposed that that be the case, but you took it out?  That is, Enbridge took it out; correct?


MR. GRANT:  No.  I don't believe it was necessarily Enbridge.  I think it goes back to the original request for proposal.  It was taken out there when we decided not to make it a voluntary program.

MR. WARREN:  And your numbers that would have been a 50 percent increase in the annual price and very small uptake, that calculation is based on what, Mr. Grant?


MR. GRANT:  No.  That is just a very general guesstimate that I am taking, based on the general discussions that we had.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MR. GRANT:  Certainly, there's -- you shouldn't quote the 50 percent.  It is just giving a rough idea that it is a very expensive plan to go on a voluntary approach, because it would be such a small number of people participating.

In other words, if you had to spread the volume across 1 percent of the population as opposed to 80 percent of the population, you would have to pay 80 times the amount.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I want to turn from that to the question of the contribution which the utilities are making to the program.  And in this context, I think it would help me to understand if you could turn up an interrogatory from my client, Consumers Council of Canada.  It's Interrogatory No. 21, Exhibit IE-5-21.

Do you have that, panel?

MR. MACLEAN:  Are you referring to the table with the costs of the joint application --


MR. WARREN:  I am referring first to the question that was asked, the question that was asked to provide a schedule setting out certain costs.

Now, just keeping your finger on that for a moment, as I read through the material, including - you don't need to turn this up - the materials that are attached to my client's Interrogatory No. 4, it would appear, Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean, that there were a substantial number of employees at Union and Enbridge that were involved in the development of this program.  Is that fair?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, there were a number of employees that were involved.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the costs of those employees, who pays for those costs?  Is that a ratepayer cost within the framework of the IRM regime?  Those costs are recaptured in your rates; is that not fair?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Going to No. 21, the specific costs of the joint application, the total costs are $321,989?  Have I read that table correctly?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Warren, we don't seem to have Interrogatory No. 21.  It should be the very last page.

MR. GOULDEN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chair.  There is a bit of confusion, because when we were -- the nomenclature we have used it is, if it was asked of both utilities, it's in the first piece.  The IEs and IUs are to Enbridge and to Union.  So you will find them in the back section of the interrogatory responses.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize, sir.  I should have put all of this into a bundle for you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Proceed.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks.  Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean, just so -- I apologize for not ensuring this was before everybody.  But my question was:  What I will call the soft costs - that is, the internal employee costs of Union and Enbridge for developing the RNG proposal which is now before the Board, those are captured, are paid for by your rates at the present time; is that correct?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, in addition to that, what CCC Interrogatory No. 21 does is it asks for the costs of the joint application, and am I right that the total joint costs are $321,989?  That is your estimate of the costs?

MR. GOULDEN:  I believe that's the Enbridge cost.  The Union cost is identified in response to interrogatory IU-5-21.

MR. WARREN:  Then those would be what?

MR. GOULDEN:  Those are $314,047.

MR. WARREN:  So we have a total of some $636,000.  And is it your intention to seek to recover those costs from ratepayers through a deferral account mechanism or otherwise?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  In the case of Enbridge, if I can refer you to CCC Interrogatory No. 22, basically flip the page, we answer that question, that the costs incurred by EGD relating to this application would be handled in the same manner as all other regulatory costs incurred for the year and would go into the Ontario hearing cost variance account for future clearance.

MR. WARREN:  So am I right that the proposal from both Union and Enbridge is that their costs of this hearing, some $615,000, will be recovered from ratepayers?  That's your proposal?

MR. GOULDEN:  I'm not sure in the case of Union, and I can undertake to determine that.

MR. WARREN:  Can you undertake to determine that?

MR. MACLEAN:  In the case of Enbridge, yes, that is our proposal.  It would go into the...

MR. WARREN:  Let me stick with Enbridge just for the moment.  So if the employee costs of developing this program are paid for by ratepayers and if the costs of this application are paid for by ratepayers, is it fair for me to conclude that the cost to Enbridge's shareholder for developing this program and seeking the approval of the Board is zero?  Is that right?

MR. MACLEAN:  The direct costs to Enbridge's shareholder would be zero.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, in the Ipsos-Reid -- sorry.

Mr. Goulden, if it's the case -- and I appreciate you have an undertaking to answer this question.  If your undertaking answer is that Union's costs will be -- for this hearing will be captured by ratepayers, would the same answer apply to Union, that the cost to Union's shareholder for developing this proposal and seeking the Board's approval would be zero, assuming the undertaking answer is as we expect?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  Subject to the caveat that there is obviously an opportunity cost, that we would have been spending our time doing other things instead.

MR. WARREN:  We will get to the opportunity costs in a moment.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Warren, if I may, I would like to mark that as an undertaking, J1.2, and that is to determine if Union will be seeking to recover the costs of this hearing through a deferral account or some other manner.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE RESPONSE AS TO WHETHER UNION WILL BE SEEKING TO RECOVER THE COSTS OF THIS HEARING THROUGH DEFERRAL ACCOUNT OR SOME OTHER MANNER.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. WARREN:  I don't think you need to turn it up, but in case you do, it is part of the response to CME No. 9, the Ipsos-Reid survey.

Actually, just for the sake of certainty, perhaps I could ask you to go back to that CME No. 9 and to the Ipsos-Reid survey, which appears on page 24.

Now, on page 24, under category (g), number 6, it reads:
"Do you strongly support, somewhat support, somewhat oppose or strongly oppose your natural gas utility..."

And I underscore the following words:
"...investing in biogas projects?"

If you are not paying any money, gentlemen, in what sense are the utilities investing in biogas products?  You don't have any skin in the game, do you, folks?

MR. MACLEAN:  I think the context of that question is that money would be spent investing in these projects, and I think it is reasonable to assume that the customer would make the connection that the utility is spending that money.

MR. WARREN:  They would make that assumption, but that assumption would be wrong, wouldn't it, because you are not spending any money on these programs, are you?  You're asking the ratepayers to spend the money.

I put it to you bluntly, Mr. Maclean, I am going to suggest to you that using the words "investing in biogas projects" is, in this case and against these facts, a misleading impression created for the responders to the survey?

MR. MACLEAN:  I wouldn't agree with that.  As a consumer, if my utility says that they're going to be spending money on something, I am expecting I am going to pay for it, anyways, as a consumer, because in fact all money that flows through the utility comes from consumers, ultimately.

MR. WARREN:  I will have to read that answer in the transcript to see if I understand it, Mr. Maclean.  I am not sure I am going to try to parse it now.

You do, however, say -- and this is in response to a question posed by my colleagues at the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  It is their VECC No. 1, and they ask you, among other things, about the benefits to the utilities of this application.

And on page 4 of 4, the answer you give is:

"Strengthening of the natural gas brand based on its contribution to addressing environmental waste and GHG emission issues."

Again, your contribution is funded by the ratepayers, but we will leave that bagatelle aside and look at the question of strengthening the natural gas brand.

I take it that has a value to the utility, strengthening the natural gas brand?

MR. MACLEAN:  I think when you talk about brand attributes, you are talking about potential value.  It is difficult to quantify any one given element of that value.

For instance, if you are offering your product at a reasonable cost, and customers perceive it to be reasonable, then I would suggest that that, in fact, provides value.

MR. WARREN:  In the ordinary course, it may be intangible, but it has a value to you.

And would it not be fair to say that, to the extent that this proposal, if it is accepted by the Board, contributes to the brand of either Union or Enbridge or both, that's a value enhancement which is being paid for by your ratepayers?  Is that not fair?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  I wouldn't say it that way, but that's fair, but I would turn you also to our response to your interrogatory -- so CCC Interrogatory No. 2 -- where we also identified some specific contributions we've made to the RNG program.

MR. WARREN:  Now, at various points in these materials -- and you don't need to turn them up because I don't have any detailed questions about them -- you have the proposed contracts with the RNG suppliers.

Can I just ask you this?  What approval, if any, do you want from the Board with respect to those contracts and the terms of the contracts?  Do you want the Board to approve them?  Say:  These are good contracts?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  Mr. Warren, can you clarify?  Do you mean with regards to the individual contracts?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.  You have specimen contracts that have been provided at various -- in response to various interrogatories.  I am just wondering if the utilities are asking the Board to approve those contracts.


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  We are not asking the Board to approve the specific or individual contracts.

And if it is helpful, the gas supply panel, number 3, can deal with sort of more of the details.

We weren't putting forward the contracts to seek the approval.  We were putting forward the contracts to inform what the contracts would look like.

MR. WARREN:  Am I right, Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean, that the choice of a 20-year contract was based on the OPA's FIT contract model?


MR. MACLEAN:  It's fair to say the choice of term was informed by the FIT, and also informed by the anticipated life cycle of the equipment to be employed.


MR. WARREN:  And when you say it was informed, is it the case that the intention was to compete directly with the OPA contracts for the biogas market?

Is that why the -- there's a fixed price and a 20-year term?  Are you competing with the OPA for these contracts?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  I wouldn't say we were thinking of this in terms of competing with the OPA contracts, Mr. Warren.

I would say we were informed by the contracts, in the sense that developers would have some choices and in order to potentially have RNG as a supply investment choice, some of the elements of the FIT contract would, in fact, need to be embodied in these contracts.

MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Poch posited to you a scenario where the price of -- cost of natural gas is going up over the course of 20 years.

Let me posit the opposite circumstance, where the price of natural gas declines.  For example, if what I understand to be the sea of natural gas underlying Pennsylvania and New York are exploited, and if it declines materially and the premium paid by ratepayers for these contracts increases beyond what we've talked about earlier, there is no -– I take it there is no mechanism for a review of these contracts mid-term, to arrive –- to, for example, reduce that premium?  There is no mechanism for review at all, is there?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  With regards to your question about the potential for the price of natural gas to go down and whether we contemplated opening up the proceeding at some point before the five-year term has expired, we didn't.

And as we explained to Mr. Poch, that's something that could be contemplated, but we didn't consider that.


MR. WARREN:  At the end of the -- we get to the end of the five-year term and you have got contracts for 20 years, my question was really during the course of the 20-year contract there's no mechanism for reviewing those prices, up, down, in between, right?


MR. MACLEAN:  Correct.  There is no mechanism for reviewing those prices.


MR. WARREN:  Now, to some extent this issue was covered off by Mr. Gardner, and I don't want to duplicate it, but I want to explore some of the seams in the answers that you gave to him.

He asked for a cost-benefit analysis or business cases with respect to the impact on the competitive market.

I want to deal more broadly.

In our -- my client's Interrogatory No. 4, we asked you to produce any business cases that had been prepared with respect to this proposal.

We didn't get any business cases in response to it.  May I assume that there were no business cases prepared with respect to any aspect of this proposal?  Is that fair?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  We interpret your question within the context of cost-benefit analysis.

MR. WARREN:  Right.


MR. MACLEAN:  And our answer is that it's very difficult -- in fact, it is impossible -- to do a full analysis when a marketplace does not exist.


That doesn't mean the benefits don't exist.  It also doesn't mean, as you have pointed out, that the costs remain the same.  They could go up.  They could go down.

That's why we've built this model with caps and limits and very clear parameters, so we all know going in what we control and what the maximum impact is.


MR. WARREN:  Well, do we know the maximum impact, Mr. Maclean, if the cost -- price of gas from other sources goes down over the course of the 20 years, then we're looking at more than a $1.2-billion cost impact for ratepayers.

So we don't know the upper limit of the burden on ratepayers, do we?


MR. GOULDEN:  In the event that the costs go down, then the impact could be greater.  But as we've explained, we think we've done a very conservative analysis of the impacts on customers after five years, so we think the prospect of that happening is very remote.

MR. WARREN:  I understand that, Mr. Goulden.  But Mr. Maclean said, you know, We fixed the upper limit of the costs.

Well, I disagree and asked him if he disagreed, as well.  The upper limit is not fixed.  It could be more than 1.2 billion.  It could be less, but it could be more, couldn't it?

MR. MACLEAN:  You're correct.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, Mr. Gardner has covered this question of the impact on the competitive market, and I just -- I just want to explore it a little bit in this context.

In terms of the market that you're developing, can we agree that for that portion of Enbridge's and Union's customers who don't want to pay an increment for renewable natural gas, that those customers are subsidizing this proposal?  Is that not fair?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, although based on the market research, 68 percent of our residential customers propose -- or support this proposal.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if Mr. Gardner or someone else wanted to get into the renewable natural gas market, they would be competing against a subsidized product being offered by the two utilities; is that not fair?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  The answer is that, yes, they would be competing against our product, and they're open to acquiring alternative products from either inside or outside of Ontario.

MR. WARREN:  Would you agree with me, Mr. Maclean, that what you are proposing has the effect, at the end of the day, of being unfair competition to folks like -- of the kind that Mr. Gardner was talking about?

It is inherently unfair competition, because you are asking system gas customers to underwrite the price of the product, rather than having the people who actually want the product pay the true price of getting the product.  Is that not unfair competition?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  No, I wouldn't agree with that characterization, Mr. Warren.

By enabling the RNG market, in fact what we are allowing to happen is a new supply stream to occur that we don't believe will happen otherwise.

So in the short term, does that mean there's going to be some competitive impacts on others that are going to play in the market?  Perhaps, but, in the longer term, it means there's going to be a market where none exists right now.

MR. WARREN:  I want to move on to consideration of some alternatives to the program you've got before the Board.

My first question relates to something called the Ontario Biogas Systems Financial Assistance Program.

You are familiar with that program?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  Is that a program that was offered by OMAFRA some time ago, Mr. Warren?  We're not very familiar --


MR. WARREN:  I don't know what the acronym refers to.  CCC Interrogatory No. 7, this CCC interrogatory arose out of evidence which appears in your joint evidence at Exhibit B, tab 1, page 8.

Looking at line 3, Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, is that what OMAFRA stands for?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  That is why they're called OMAFRA.

MR. WARREN:  It takes me a while to get to these subtle points, Mr. Goulden.  I apologize.
"...launched the Ontario Biogas Systems Financial Assistance program in 2008, providing farmers and food processing facilities with funding for biogas feasibility studies, construction and implementation, and the program concluded in 2010."

MR. GOULDEN:  Okay.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me why it is it was concluded in 2010?  Do you know?

MR. GOULDEN:  I believe it might have had a fixed term schedule, but we don't know.

MR. WARREN:  Would it be reasonable for me to -- I am now a bit fearful about trying to conclude anything about what OMAFRA did, but would it be reasonable for me to conclude it was a subsidy program for the biogas industry?

MR. GOULDEN:  To be helpful, perhaps the technical group, the next panel up, could -- they're more familiar with the details of this kind of program.

MR. WARREN:  I would like to turn, if you wouldn't mind, to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 3.

I am getting close to my self-imposed time limit, but I am almost done so...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. MACLEAN:  We have that turned up now.

MR. WARREN:  Now, this interrogatory response, as I understand it, details a number of meetings that were held with various stakeholders to discuss renewable natural gas.  I just wanted to cover a few of those.

If I look to page 3 of 9, there is a meeting with the OEB gas committee on December 15th, 2010.  What is the OEB gas committee?

MR. GOULDEN:  I can't articulate its precise mandate, but it is to look at what I would call natural gas-related policy issues on an information basis.

MR. WARREN:  There were also meetings with a number of municipalities, for example, with the City of Toronto, the City of Ottawa, with the AMO.  That is the Association of Municipalities of Ontario; correct?

MR. GOULDEN:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, as I understand it - and correct me if I am using the wrong vocabulary - one of the benefits you see to the program is that it will take gas which is otherwise being flared by local municipal landfills and turn it into a product which can be sold.  Is that fair?

MR. GOULDEN:  I would characterize it a little bit differently.  Turn it into a product that can be used in a useful sense.  But, yes, in this case, it would be sold.

MR. WARREN:  And I take it we can conclude that that is a benefit which goes to municipalities from your doing that?

My question really, to cut to the essence of it:  Did you ask the municipalities for financial support for this program, given that you're taking some of their gas and converting it, and then selling it?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  In our discussions with the municipalities, it was not necessarily a municipal benefit, as you've characterized it.

What I mean by that is it was an opportunity for the municipalities to do something with matter that could be anaerobically digested.  Some of them, I guess, may choose to do that themselves as a so-called opportunities -- opportunity.  Others I am aware of are actually looking at third parties to sort of, by an RFP process, determine what can be done with this.

So not sure that we saw it as being a direct financial benefit to any municipality, no.

MR. WARREN:  But you didn't ask them if they would subsidize the program?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  We didn't treat the municipalities any different than any of the other potential participants in the process, no.


MR. WARREN:  One question on Board Staff No. 5, in your schedule -– or, sorry, your chart that sets out the pros and cons of various alternatives.


My question only relates to the first category of voluntary sign-up: opt in or out.


One of the cons that you list there, one of the negative aspects of it, number two, is:

"It would require significant customer outreach and communication to ensure that customers are able to make an informed choice."

Isn't being able to make an informed choice a value that we should cherish, panel?


MR. MACLEAN:  I think it is important for customers to be educated and to be able to make informed choices, the context of the responses within the framework of putting together an overall proposal.

So from our point of view, it is not that we don't think customers should make informed choices.  In fact, we do think customers should make informed choices.

The context is:  Are the utilities really set up to be able to do that?  Do the utilities really have marketing arms?  Do we market natural gas?  Do we have people on board, on staff to explain these things and acquire customers on either an opt-in or opt-out basis?

And the answer to that is that is not the core competency of the utilities; that is really the core competency of third-party marketers.

And that is one of the reasons why we saw third-party marketers as actually potential adjuncts or complimentary channels for this.


And if you look at the bottom of the page on the last option, which is the utility supply approach, I would refer to you that under the pro is:

"Including RNG and system supply eliminates the need for significant marketing and customer communications costs."

So from our point of view, this is about trying to enable the marketplace and bring as much supply as possible for the amount of money that you spend.

And to the extent that the utilities are not equipped to market to customers and attract customers and that is a costly proposition for the utilities to do, we wanted as much of the money to be spent to support actual projects, as opposed to be spent on acquiring customers, in a voluntary program.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, it is not within the core competency of the utilities to engage in this kind of customer outreach, but my understanding is that you regard it as within the core competency of the utilities to make a proposal to develop a market to develop a market, to enable a market for renewable natural gas.

That is within your core competency?  Have I got that right?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Ah.  Just three or four technical questions.  They're overview questions but they're of a relatively narrow nature.

These all arise from Interrogatory No. 5 posed by my client, to which there are a number of attachments, if you could turn that up, please.


MR. GOULDEN:  Did you say CCC No. 5?


MR. WARREN:  Yes, thanks.

MR. GOULDEN:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  The first document I am looking to is -- the first attachments, Mr. Goulden, is a copy of an e-mail dated February 15th, 2011, to various people.


And on the -- it is actually page 4 of 37 of attachment 1, if that helps you to find it.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, which IR are you looking at?


MR. WARREN:  No. 5.  Oh, sorry...

MS. CHAPLIN:  My first attachment has three pages.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, I apologize.  It is No. 4.  I juxtaposed 5 and 4; 5 is the number of my client.

It is No. 4, I'm sorry.


MS. CHAPLIN:  No problem.  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  Attachment number 1, page 4 of 37 in the upper right-hand corner.


MR. GOULDEN:  Sorry, what page were you referencing, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  4 of 37, and attachment 1.


MR. GOULDEN:  E-mail dated April 29th?


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, it's March 15.

MR. GOULDEN:  March 15th?  Yes.  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  On the second page, under "Key differences with Enbridge" it says:

"Enbridge will pay the meter and regulator costs plus a running line allowance of approximately $500,000."

Is that still within the proposal, Mr. Maclean?  Or has that been jettisoned?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  The specific elements of the program, of course, have evolved over time.  We didn't just envision and create this all in the same day.

So the current proposal is for capital aid and contribution for customers for the connection charge, and then an ongoing O&M maintenance charge for looking after that equipment on their behalf.


MR. WARREN:  So Mr. Maclean, just to seal this off, if I go to the next page, Page 5 of 37, under "Status," number two:

"Enbridge also wants approval to rate base the first few installed biogas cleanup facilities."

I take it that is no longer part of this proposal?


MR. MACLEAN:  That's correct.  That's no longer part of this proposal.

If we go back in time, you know, we're utilities, and the very first thing that we need to do is make sure that we can safely bring biomethane into our gas distribution systems.

And within our engineering and operations departments, there was a question of whether or not we knew enough about this.

There are a number of parallel activities that were going on.  Union was conducting their enquiries.  We were conducting our enquiries.  Both of us eventually became part of a CGA consortium, so to speak, looking at biogas specifications.

And we had originally thought that it might be important for us to do a couple of projects to make sure we understood what was actually coming into our system.  We satisfied ourselves through other means that we could do that without any of these types of projects and without owning the equipment ourselves.

MR. WARREN:  My last question in this category is on page 37 of 37 of this attachment.


There is a reference on that page.  It says:

"Enbridge want an opportunity to invest in biomethane projects and receive the premium purchase price."

What does that mean?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  Bryan could perhaps explain what they meant on their slide, but certainly from the Enbridge perspective, this is exactly what I was just talking about.

Back in 2010, we were still thinking that we might need to do some pilot projects and understand exactly what is being cleaned up and what is being put into our distribution system.

Over the course of time as this application evolved, we satisfied ourselves that that was not, in fact, necessary.

MR. WARREN:  My final question, sir, is, I guess, at a high level of policy.


You have elected -- I am going to put it to you -- you have elected in this proposal and in this application to ask your ratepayers to subsidize a particular form of technology; that is, the biomethane technology.


Do you regard that as a proper role for the utilities, sir, to elect to use their ratepayers' money to support a particular form of technology?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]


MR. MACLEAN:  We will start by going back to the very beginning of this morning.

There are very few opportunities to make a demonstrable impact on the issue in the thermal side of the equation.  There are not a lot of options.  So a supply-side option for renewable natural gas is one of the few levers that we have that practically can be brought to play.

Then with respect to the technology itself, there are multiple technologies that are at play within the context of biogas, and we're not preferring one over another.

In fact, I think you could question the technical panel on that.  They have evaluated a number of different technologies, all of which can do the job.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  I apologize for running over time.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  I have a quick question.  Maybe you could help me reconcile the math.  It has to do with some of the numbers Mr. Warren took you through.

Thirty-six million a year increase to your system gas portfolio in the case of Enbridge, and then the $18 per customer, you have, am I correct, about 1.4 million system gas customers?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  I'm sorry, I actually don't know the number of system gas customers that we have.

MS. HARE:  Well, it makes a difference in this way.  If the 36 million number is correct and if I'm correct that you have about 70 percent on system gas, and that number changes so that might not be correct, then it is not 18 per customer.  It is more like 26 per customer, or maybe the 36 is wrong.

But somehow, unless I can't do math, something doesn't fit.

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MS. HARE:  What we're whispering is maybe take an undertaking and think about that.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be undertaking J1.3, and it is to provide the calculation of where the $36 million came from.

MS. HARE:  If the 36 is right, then the 18 is wrong.

MR. MILLAR:  Provide a reconciliation.

MS. HARE:  And if the 18 is right, then the 36 is wrong.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess probably a reconciliation of the $36 million figure with the proposed $18-and-change cap to residential system customers.

MR. MACLEAN:  If I may, I think I can be somewhat helpful, notwithstanding the fact that we should take an undertaking on this, but the $18 refers to the average residential customer, and of course we have more customers than just residential customers.  We have some commercial business customers that are part of system gas.

And so, therefore, part of the gas costs would be covered off by them.

MS. HARE:  An undertaking would still be helpful.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.3.

MR. MACLEAN:  We agree.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE RECONCILIATION OF $36 MILLION A YEAR INCREASE TO SYSTEM GAS PORTFOLIO.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will break now until 3:30.  It is the Board's intention to adjourn at 4:30 sharp.  So you can work out -- you can either cut questions or you can, in one way or another streamline, or certainly come back tomorrow.  The panel I know is available for tomorrow.  So with that in mind, we will adjourn until 3:30.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 3:15 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:32 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.   Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Mr. Hughes will be leading off the examination for CME.  He is going to be dealing with the customer survey evidence; he has considerable experience in this area, and that's why he's here today, to deal with that.

And then I will deal with all of the other evidence for which panel 1 is responsible.

We have indicated that we could be up to 90 minutes, so I suspect we will take the panel to the end of the day.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Hughes?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Hughes

MR. HUGHES:  Ms. Guiry, I am going to be referring almost exclusively to the Enbridge study at appendix 3 of the prefiled evidence, as well as CME Interrogatory No. 9 with the two attachments.  So if you have those in front of you, that will be helpful.  Thank you.

Ms. Guiry, you have been recognized -- and in my view, appropriately so -- as an expert in the area of public opinion survey research.

I had a couple of just general public policy -- or public opinion survey questions for you.  I don't believe they're contentious, but all other things being equal, would you agree that public or customer opinion surveys are essentially a snapshot in time?  And by that, I mean that they simply reflect the views of the respondents at the time the survey is taken?


MS. GUIRY:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. HUGHES:  Thank you.  Second, would you agree that the results of a survey can vary, even significantly, based on the wording of the questions asked, as well as the order in which those questions are asked?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes.  In all surveys, it is important to evaluate any bias you may be introducing by the question flow and the question wording.


MR. HUGHES:  Thank you.  Thirdly -- again, all other things being equal -- would you agree that the results of a survey can vary, again, even significantly, depending upon who is contacted and whether the pool of respondents accurately reflects the diversity of the broader group being polled?


MS. GUIRY:  I don't know if it would vary significantly, but certainly it is a principal tenet of survey-based research to make sure that you are getting a representative sample of the population you are attempting to estimate.

MR. HUGHES:  Perfect.  Thank you.

To my question, then, about timing, am I correct that Enbridge's commercial customers were interviewed on the question of biomethane between October 12th, 2010 and October 29th, 2010?


MS. GUIRY:  October 12 to 29th.


MR. HUGHES:  Thank you.  And am I also correct that in the approximately 18 months since those calls were made, Ipsos-Reid has not conducted a follow-up survey for Enbridge among those respondents on this issue?

MS. GUIRY:  No.  There has been no follow-up survey.

MR. HUGHES:  Am I also correct that prior to October 2010, Ipsos-Reid had never conducted a comparable survey of Enbridge customers, on this topic, again?


MS. GUIRY:  I don't recall a previous survey on this topic, no.


MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  So to the best of your knowledge, therefore, this is the only survey of Enbridge's commercial customers on the issue of biomethane?


MS. GUIRY:  That's my understanding.


MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  Am I also correct in thinking that Ipsos-Reid has not ever conducted a survey of Union Gas commercial customers on this topic?


MS. GUIRY:  As far as I know, we have not conducted a survey among Union customers, commercial customers.

MR. HUGHES:  And as you previously answered, a survey is only a snapshot of Enbridge's commercial customers' views in October 2010; is that correct?


MS. GUIRY:  That's correct.


MR. HUGHES:  And would you agree with me that customer, like public, opinion on issues like the environment or energy matters can change or evolve over time?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes.  I would say certainly you can expect public opinion on issues like the environment to be fluid, to change from time to time.


MR. HUGHES:  Thank you.  And in the absence of either studies before or after on the same topic, is it possible for you to discern broader trends or changes in opinion if you only get -- for example, if you only have this one survey in isolation, you can't, I am assuming, extrapolate from that broader trends as to whether these views represented an incline or a decrease or an increase on their views on these issues?

Is that a fair assumption?

MS. GUIRY:  It is fair to say if you don't have a tracking study, it is difficult to determine definitively whether the trend -- there is a trend.  You're taking a snapshot.

However, I will say that unless there has been something in the marketplace significant enough to drive public opinion a certain direction one way or down, you know, arguably, then, potentially the change in public opinion would be rather small.


MR. HUGHES:  And are you, in this issue, able to say whether or not there's been a significant event of that kind?

MS. GUIRY:  No, I wouldn't be prepared to say that.


MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  Thank you.  And am I correct, then, as of this moment, you have not been commissioned or asked to undertake a further study in the foreseeable future on this topic among Enbridge commercial customers?


MS. GUIRY:  No, we have not.


MR. HUGHES:  So, then, for the purposes of this these proceedings, the survey conducted by Enbridge -- of Enbridge's commercial customers is only evidence of their views in October 2010, not May 2012?

Is that a fair characterization?

MS. GUIRY:  Surveys being a snapshot in time, I would have to say that is a fair statement.

MR. HUGHES:  Thank you very much.  You cannot say definitively -- as I believe was your evidence -- that the responses would necessarily be the same if they were asked today?  Is that fair?

MS. GUIRY:  It is very difficult to speculate.


MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  Thank you.  I guess I will just round off on that.

Margin of error would deal only with the accuracy of the poll at that time; it wouldn't be projective, in terms of whether there would be that margin over time, for example, that it would be within that margin of error today, for example?

MS. GUIRY:  The margin of error is associated to that particular survey.  The snapshot is taken.

However, when you're looking at tracking surveys on the same topic, if you are looking to demonstrate significant movement, you would use the margin of error to justify whether the change is beyond the margin of error or within the margin of error.

MR. HUGHES:  But again, in this case, we don't have a tracking survey?


MS. GUIRY:  That's right.

MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  Thank you.  Moving to my second general question, you agreed with me that the results of a survey can vary, again, even significantly, based on the nature and order of the questions.

Who prepared the questions that were asked of Enbridge's commercial customers?


MS. GUIRY:  As is typically done, there's a meeting with the client and the Ipsos research team to discuss the objectives of the survey.


And then usually the Ipsos team will go back and drafts an initial version of the questionnaire, and often there's several iterations back and forth, with the client being obviously the subject matter expert, to provide insight in terms of what would be a factual statement.

Ipsos will provide support in terms of making sure that the questions are unbiased, and in our view, would be clear and understandable by the respondent.


MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  If I could get you to pull up the Ipsos-Reid final report, this is the November 2010.

Sir, it is at Exhibit B, tab 1, appendix 3.

If I could take you, ma'am, to page 4, if you have it in front of you, I will just read the first full paragraph:

"Ipsos-Reid was commissioned by Enbridge Gas Distribution to better understand the potential residential and commercial markets for biogas, its market drivers, and customer sensitivities to a range of different price points.  Green biomethane gas could be mixed with regular natural gas in order to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in Ontario.  In recognition of the added value of a green gas, it is anticipated that customers may be willing to pay a premium for this product."

Would it be fair, therefore, to characterize the primary purpose for this report to identify potential biogas market and customer price sensitivity?


MS. GUIRY:  Yes.  One of the main objectives of this survey was to determine whether Ontario gas customers would be willing to pay a premium for this product.


MR. HUGHES:  Thank you.  Ms. Guiry, are -- Guiry --


MS. GUIRY:  Guiry.

MR. HUGHES:  Sorry, I even asked Board Staff Counsel for that and I got it wrong.  Are you familiar with the term "push poll"?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes.

MR. HUGHES:  And for the benefit of Board members, would you agree with my layperson's definition that a push poll is a poll in which the questions asked are designed to influence opinion, and not simply gauge it?


MS. GUIRY:  Can you repeat that?


MR. HUGHES:  A push poll is a pull in which the questions asked are designed to influence opinion, not just gauge it?

MS. GUIRY:  Yeah.  I guess that would be a fair characterization of a push poll.


MR. HUGHES:  Can I ask you to pull up, in this same appendix 3, the commercial questionnaire which starts at page 50, bottom right-hand corner?


Ma'am, am I correct in saying that these were the final questions that were actually asked of respondents who were polled for this survey?

MS. GUIRY:  I believe that's correct.

MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  Let's go through them.  The first couple of questions, as I see it, there is obviously an introductory note, and then there is what I would call some screening questions.  Would that be fair?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes.

MR. HUGHES:  And then, as Mr. Warren indicated, there were a series of questions about the environment.  And specifically on page 51, roughly in the middle, it begins:
"Overall, how concerned is your organization about each of the following:  are you very concerned, somewhat concerned, not very concerned or not at all concerned?"


And then it says, "Read scale as necessary".  I am assuming this is a direction to the caller, the pollster, that they are to randomize the order of each of these items listed below, and I will just read those out:
"The current state of the environment, the future state of the environment, the effects of global warming and climate change, greenhouse gas emissions, a loss of oxygen producing forests, the level of government or industry leadership on environmental issues, and access to alternative energy solutions."


That question was asked in that way to each of the respondents?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes, you are correct to say it was randomized.  It was read in a randomized order.

MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  Then on page 52, at the bottom half of the page, respondents are first asked whether they've heard of biogas, and then am I correct in saying, again, as per this script, each respondent would have been read this -- these two, three paragraphs about biogas?

MS. GUIRY:  Yes.

MR. HUGHES:  And where it has been underlined, were callers urged to emphasize that portion of the line, or was that a direction to them on how they would ask the question?

MS. GUIRY:  To be fair, I'm not 100 percent sure in this particular case whether that underlining is meant to reinforce.

MR. HUGHES:  But it would have been on the original call script?

MS. GUIRY:  I don't know if it was on the call script, to be honest.

MR. HUGHES:  Okay, fair enough.  I guess my next question will be this.  In Mr. Warren's questioning of the panel, I believe the evidence we heard was that renewable natural gas or biomethane is not strictly required in order for Union and Enbridge to meet their supply needs.

However, I note in the second full paragraph of that explanatory note, it says:
"Your natural gas utility is exploring the purchase of biogas to assist in meeting the overall gas supply needs of their commercial customers."


Do you agree that that could potentially be misleading, as a respondent might have interpreted that to mean that it was required to meet the supply needs?

MS. GUIRY:  No, I would not agree with that characterization.

I think it is important to read the whole paragraph in full, and I think it is important to note the word "assist" in meeting the overall gas supply needs of commercial customers.

MR. HUGHES:  You would agree, though, the question or that statement - and it is repeated in the questions - indicates that there are needs that the utilities have relative to supply and that this could assist them to meet those needs?

MS. GUIRY:  Yeah, I would read it as, "to assist in meeting the overall gas supply needs of their commercial customers".

MR. HUGHES:  So if we turn the page, again, there's some underlining which I will assume may or may not have been in the actual question, but it says, the first question, Do you -- I am assuming:
"Do you strongly support, somewhat support, somewhat oppose or strongly oppose..."

Again, underlined:
"... your natural gas utility purchasing biogas to meet the gas supply needs of its commercial customers?"


Again, whether that was emphasized as it is underlined or not, the question is not, I think you will agree with me, you know, Do you agree that your utility should, you know, purchase biogas to achieve environmental results?

It's "to help meet its supply needs".  Is that a fair observation?  I will -- perhaps I will rephrase the question.

Both Union Gas and Enbridge today have given a variety of reasons why they believe this proposal has merit.  The key driver behind it has not, as I've understood the evidence, been it was needed to help them meet their supply needs.

And I just note that is the one rationale given.  Do you agree that that might, in some respect, be misleading to some respondents, potentially?

MS. GUIRY:  I think it is important to be factual about the question, and I think it is a neutral way of saying:  Do you support or oppose natural gas utility purchasing biogas to meet the gas supply needs of its commercial customers?

So, yes, there is a rationale for support or oppose.

MR. HUGHES:  But would a potentially more accurate question have been:  Do you support your utility purchasing biogas to help reduce greenhouse gas emissions?  Which is, as I understand it, the evidence presented by Enbridge and Union.

MS. GUIRY:  Sorry, what was your question?

MR. HUGHES:  Would that have been a more accurate question in terms of the rationale for this application?

MS. GUIRY:  I don't know whether I would consider that more accurate, no.

MR. HUGHES:  Fair enough.  But on accuracy, we have heard evidence today, and the Chair assisted us in this, that there appears to be a distinction between biomethane and biogas.

I note that the terms appear to be used interchangeably in the survey.  Was that intentional or an error?

MS. GUIRY:  My understanding is that the terms were used interchangeably.

MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  Intentionally?

MS. GUIRY:  No, not intentionally.  I don't think there was an intention there to confuse.  I think...

MR. HUGHES:  Not to confuse, but I'm just saying:  Was there an understanding that there was a distinction, or were they being asked if they supported the purchase of biogas?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MS. GUIRY:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. HUGHES:  Sure.  I agree it appears that the terms were using interchangeably.  Was it intentional?  Were the respondents supposed to be asked whether they supported the purchase of biogas, or should that have been do they support the purchase of biomethane, or at the time the survey was taken was there no distinction between the two?

MS. GUIRY:  I believe there was no distinction taken between the two at the time.

As you may know, biomethane gas or biogas is produced in landfills, as per the paragraph that was read to the respondents.

MR. HUGHES:  But the evidence today is there is a distinction between the two; is that correct?  And another member of the panel may be more qualified to answer that, I recognize.

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GRANT:  If I could answer that question?  At the time we were developing the concept, the area was quite new to us and we thought that the term "biomethane" was not a term that was regular consumer language, and so we explained it as being biomethane or otherwise called biogas.  And that is why we did it that way, to turn it into consumer language so they can understand what we were talking about.

MR. CASS:  In fairness, too, Mr. Chair, if I might point this out, at page 52 the description of biogas is very consistent with the evidence you have heard today.  It says:
"Once it is captured the biogas can then be cleaned and delivered to the market..."


Which is what you have heard today.

MR. HUGHES:  And I certainly did not intend to suggest there was an attempt to mislead or deceive respondents, just that, again, we're talking about different concepts.   Today there was clear evidence I felt, Mr. Chair, that there was a distinction between the two, and perhaps maybe I will ask.

Does this again speak to the fact this this survey may more accurately reflect not only the respondents', but also Union and Enbridge's thoughts and views, at the time the survey was taken back in 2010 as opposed to today in 2012?  Is that a fair characterization?


MR. GOULDEN:  I was indirectly involved in the discussions on this, and the way I would characterize it is at the time, we were testing a concept.

The concept was something called biogas or biomethane or the idea of producing a green gas.

So we hadn't figured out all of the details at the time.  We were really testing with our customers whether there was any receptiveness to, potentially, the utility being involved in that process.  That is why it was at a higher level at the time.

MR. HUGHES:  So the Board, then, in taking this evidence should interpret it, again, as more, perhaps, of a generic survey of a concept, not necessarily a survey establishing support for or against your specific application and the final concept?  Is that your evidence?


MR. GOULDEN:  No, that is not what I said.


What I said was we were testing the concept of biogas and whether customers would be receptive to paying for it.

As I think Mr. Grant explained, we put it in plain language to our customers, such that they could understand what we were talking about.

So we didn't get into more detail, first of all, because we didn't know all of the detail, but secondly, we wanted a plain-language approach.

MR. HUGHES:  Again, I don't think we're speaking at cross-purposes, sir.


I guess me question was:  The poll is asking about potential -- or attempting to gauge support for a concept which had not yet been fully developed.

It is not a poll that was to determine support for what the application -- the specific application you have now brought before the Board.  Is that a fair characterization?


MR. GOULDEN:  But what we were attempting to do with regards to the poll in that regard was really determine to the receptiveness of things environmental to our customers, and receptiveness to them paying a price for us to participate.

What they identified is they were prepared to commit to a price for the utilities to be involved, which is where the 2 percent and the 4 percent and the 1 percent number came from.


MR. HUGHES:  Well, the 2 percent and the 4 percent and the 1 percent and half a percent that were in the questions didn't derive from their answers.

That was the questions that were put to them; you would agree with that, sir?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.

MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  Thank you.


Ma'am, back to you.  In terms of the -- your evidence was that the nature of the questions and sometimes even the order of the questions can affect the results, potentially significantly.  You said there should be precision in ensuring that the questions are accurately trying to elicit the responses you are trying to determine.

In this poll -- this survey, rather, the respondents were asked some general screening questions, then a series of environmental-related questions.  They were given environmental information, and then they were asked about their willingness to incur additional costs.

Is that a fair characterization of the script so far?


MS. GUIRY:  Yes.  And it is a very typical flow for a topic like this.

MR. HUGHES:  Fair enough.

In your expert opinion, would the responses potentially have been different if the screening questions were followed by a series of questions about high energy costs, and then a question about whether they would pay an additional amount or a premium for a new product?


MS. GUIRY:  I would say that I am not comfortable speculating on whether the results would be different.


MR. HUGHES:  Fair enough, but would you agree it is possible?

I am not asking you to give us what the difference in the results would be, but is it possible that it would have an impact?


MS. GUIRY:  Would it be possible that the results would be different if, instead of these questions, it was what, sorry?


MR. HUGHES:  Instead of the environmental lead-in questions, the questions prior to the price sensitivity questions were about high energy costs.


MS. GUIRY:  It's really hard to say.


MR. HUGHES:  Fair enough.  And perhaps I could just ask -- you mentioned there were various iterations of this.  Who decided that the respondents would first be asked environmental questions before the price premium questions?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GRANT:  The direction was all in the RFP, and that was the basis of the questionnaire.


MR. HUGHES:  Which was produced by Enbridge?


MR. GRANT:  Correct.

MR. HUGHES:  Thank you.  Ma'am, if I could get you to turn to page 5, again, of appendix B -- and this is under the heading "Methodology" -- my understanding, ma'am, is that the evidence is that the margin of error for the commercial study was plus or minus 4.4 percent, 19 times out of 20; is that correct?


MS. GUIRY:  That's correct.


MR. HUGHES:  And am I also correct that the margin of error for the commercial study is not included in the final report?

MS. GUIRY:  Sorry, the margin of error for the commercial study is not included in the final report?


MR. HUGHES:  Correct.


MS. GUIRY:  It would appear it is not here, but that is the correct margin of error.

MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  If I could take you to -- this is -- my apologies, CME Interrogatory No. 9, and attachment 1, page 49.  Do you have it there, ma'am?


MS. GUIRY:  I believe I do, yes.


MR. HUGHES:  And yes, I have retreated to calling you "ma'am" because I am concerned about making a mistake with "Guiry."

This appears to me to be a draft report that was produced at some point by Ipsos-Reid for Enbridge's comments and consideration; is that correct?


MS. GUIRY:  Yes.  It is very typical for us to provide an initial draft of the survey findings, and then have an iterative back and forth with the client to finalize the content.

MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  And if you could go to page 53 -- Do you have it there, ma'am?  It is, again, methodology.  This is the draft language that was proposed.


If you look in the second full paragraph, in what is black-lined, the commercial study margin of error, 4.4 percent, is there; is that correct?


MS. GUIRY:  Yes.  I see it here with the strike-out.

MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  Am I correct that the strike-outs represented comments or proposed revisions that were proposed by Enbridge?


MS. GUIRY:  To be honest, I really don't know.


MR. HUGHES:  Would you agree with me that it is standard industry best practices for margin of error to be included with polling studies?


MS. GUIRY:  It is common practice to associate the margin of error with the sample size.


MR. HUGHES:  And do you have an explanation for why the commercial study margin of error was removed in this case?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]


MR. GRANT:  To the best of our knowledge, that was just an oversight.

When I produced these, the changes here, basically I took the final of all final reports and the initial report.  And that one, that was one of the changes that showed up.


MS. GUIRY:  But the correct margin of error is plus or minus 4.4, and I think that was accidentally struck out.


MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  I guess this is a good transition to my third general question which I asked and which you answered, that results of a survey can vary depending on who is surveyed.

And I appreciate your evidence was that it may not vary significantly, but it obviously can be a factor.

Again, I am correct in understanding that Ipsos-Reid only surveyed Enbridge's commercial customers, not Union Gas' commercial customers?


MS. GUIRY:  That's correct.

MR. HUGHES:  So not a single Union Gas commercial customer was called or asked these questions?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MS. GUIRY:  Sorry, the question was:  Did we conduct a survey of Union Gas commercial customers?

MR. HUGHES:  That was the original one.  Then I said, just to further elaborate on that, to confirm not a single Union Gas commercial customer was called.  They were never asked these questions.  They do not form part of this survey.

MS. GUIRY:  To my knowledge, they do not form part of this survey.  Perhaps another member of the panel can speak to, you know, the decision not to survey Union Gas customers.

MR. HUGHES:  No, I just wanted to confirm that we understood the study.  Thank you.

Can I ask you, again, ma'am, to turn up CME Interrogatory No. 9, and I would like you to go to page 2 of attachment 1?

This, ma'am, should be the original request for proposal that Mr. Grant was just speaking about, if you have it.  Sorry.

[Witness panel conferring]

MS. GUIRY:  Sorry, yes, I have it.

MR. HUGHES:  Excellent.  Okay, thank you.  This is the original request for proposal that Ipsos-Reid would have responded to in order to secure the work to undertake the study; is that correct?

MS. GUIRY:  I believe that's correct.

MR. HUGHES:  And if you could turn to page 4 in the bottom right-hand corner, the middle of that page, there is a subheading "Target Audience".

I am going to read to you the second full paragraph:
"We anticipate the sample size of up to 1,000 for the residential survey and 500 Enbridge customers for the commercial portion of the study.  We would stratify the commercial sample so that we could get a reading of large volume commercial customers, as well as a smaller Rate 6 customers."

Do you know, ma'am, did that happen?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MS. GUIRY:  I think one of my fellow panellists is going to follow up my answer, but we did not stratify the commercial sample so that we would get a reading of large volume commercial customers, specifically.

Instead, what we did was we took a random sample and let the final sample fall out naturally, with the quota on region, to make sure that the region was well represented to the actual proportion in the universe of commercial customers.

MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  Ma'am, if you could go to page 13 again in that same attachment -- I'm sorry, page 12 in that attachment?

This appears to be, again, a draft for comments of a proposal that Ipsos-Reid has submitted, again, I assume in response to the RFP; is that correct?

MS. GUIRY:  Correct.

MR. HUGHES:  If you would turn to page 13, the final paragraph, the second to last line:
"Participants would be drawn from a randomly pulled list of customers provided by Enbridge."

And then this is the struck-through or black-lined line:
"The list would be stratified based on consumption allowing us to assess differences in opinion based on the size of the commercial entity."

Is it your evidence, ma'am, that because that was not done, you are unable to or Ipsos-Reid was unable to assess difference of an opinion based on the size of commercial -- of the commercial entities involved?

MS. GUIRY:  The fact is that we have captured business size, and, if need be, we can do a cross-tab - that's our lingo - to look at the results by size.

MR. HUGHES:  But that hasn't been provided to the Board?

MS. GUIRY:  I believe it hasn't.  It hasn't been done.  It can be done.

MR. HUGHES:  Could you undertake to provide that to the Board?

MS. GUIRY:  I believe we can, yes.

MR. GRANT:  There is one caveat we have on that.  At the time that the data was pulled, the quality of the gas consumption data was somewhat questionable, and that was one of the factors that was considered when we pulled the sample.

So because we were in the midst of changing systems, we would have to investigate whether that data is accurate, or not.

MR. HUGHES:  So I apologize, Mr. Grant.  Just to confirm, your evidence is, then, that the caveat here is you may not be able to produce this, because the data upon which the sample was pulled --

MR. GRANT:  No.  The sample was pulled as a random sample.  What I'm saying is if there are a good 10 or 15 percent of the sample that doesn't have the data in it, we wouldn't be -- we would have to show that as a separate result.

MS. GUIRY:  What he's saying is that the list of commercial customers may not have every single individual identified by size.

MR. HUGHES:  In which case, then, you couldn't do the breakout that you have just talked about?

MS. GUIRY:  We could do it with there being a third column (f)or "blank".  Presumably there is a small number of blanks.  It's feasible.  I don't know if it is of interest, but it is feasible to look at it.

MR. HUGHES:  Again, you may not have been given all of the information necessary to do that?

MS. GUIRY:  I haven't looked at the sample in several, several months, so I really --

MR. HUGHES:  Mr. Grant is saying that is a possibility.  Mr. Grant, is that fair?

MR. GRANT:  That's fair.

MR. HUGHES:  Okay.  Just one moment, Mr. Chair.  Sorry.  Mr. Chair, I will go to Mr. Thompson now for his questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Hughes, to be clear, did we take an undertaking?

MR. HUGHES:  We did, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  There was some back and forth on that undertaking request.  It will be J1.4.

MR. HUGHES:  Perhaps I could get Ms. Guiry to restate what it was she could do in terms of the breakout, all other things being equal.

MS. GUIRY:  What I can do is look at the variable that was provided in the sample file, and if it is there, which I believe it is, we can pull the sample data into the survey data and do the cross-tab to explore that result.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO LOOK AT VARIABLE PROVIDED IN THE SAMPLE FILE, IF IT IS PRESENT, AND PULL THE SAMPLE DATA INTO THE SURVEY DATA AND CROSS-TAB TO EXPLORE THE RESULT.


MR. HUGHES:  Thank you.
Cross-examination by Mr. Thompson


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks very much, Mr. Chairman.  This won't be quite as surgical as my friend, Mr. Hughes, but let me begin, panel.

We represent Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, as I hope you know.  I have a series of topics that I want to cover, and the first introductory topic relates to what I call the public interest nature of biogas production.

Can we agree that I guess it should biomethane gas production stems from waste?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if I understand the evidence correctly, it can be animal waste or human waste, but can we agree that by its nature, an activity that stems from the management of waste is a waste management function?

MR. GOULDEN:  It is certainly related to waste management.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, moving to the question of responsibility for waste management functions, can we agree that a gas distribution utility does not have that responsibility?

MR. MACLEAN:  We have the responsibility to ensure that our industry and our customers maintain a viable and sustainable product over time, including at a reasonable cost.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can we agree that a gas utility does not have any waste management responsibilities?

MR. MACLEAN:  I think we can agree that a gas utility doesn't have, directly, waste management responsibilities.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And could you venture who does, in the scheme of public interest agencies?

Would you agree municipal governments are one such agency that does have that responsibility?


MR. GOULDEN:  We would agree that lots of entities have responsibility, lots of interests, and we are an interested party, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can we agree that municipal governments are a significant entity that have the responsibility for waste management?

MR. MACLEAN:  For municipal waste, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And for farmers who produce waste, is it fair to say that the waste management responsibility is theirs, for animal waste?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, but we're not certain it is exclusively theirs.  There's other entities, again, that have responsibility for that kind of stuff.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's move on, then.


In terms of the emergence of a biogas -– sorry, biomethane production market, there has been quite a bit of evidence with respect to existing biogas -- or biomethane – sorry, biogas facilities.

And, for example, the Pollution Probe brief, I believe, had Board Staff No. 8, I-1-8, that listed a number of sites; is that fair?  Do you recall that?


MR. MACLEAN:  Certainly, there are a number of sites operating in the province, having to do with the production of biogas for electricity.

MR. THOMPSON:  And can we safely conclude that those activities, those participants, if you will, in biomethane production, biogas production, emerged without utility enabling?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  Whether it's gas or electric, it is ultimately a supply-side issue.  And we would note that within the electricity paradigm, there are other market participants that look after supply issues, whereas within the gas or thermal side of the equation, the utilities have a much more direct role.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, do they?  Or is it the OPA?


MR. MACLEAN:  I think we said with respect to electricity that the supply-side is much more influenced by other market participants, including the OPA, whereas on the gas side, it is really the gas utilities and third-party marketers.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, there are two examples that were given in that Interrogatory I-1-8, of the landfill in Thorold and another one somewhere else.  I've forgotten.  One was providing gas to Abitibi and another one was providing gas to Gerdau.  Am I correct that neither of those facilities required gas utility enabling?


MR. MACLEAN:  I can speak to the Abitibi one.

There was a pipeline constructed by Enbridge on behalf of the two partners within that project.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I guess we should get clear what you mean by "enabling."  I took "enabling" to mean some sort of investment over and above your normal activities.


What do you mean by "enabling"?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. MACLEAN:  We see two major roles of the utilities within this space.

The first is an enabling activity as a result of our infrastructure.  If you want to produce RNG locally within the province of Ontario, there is ultimately a link to our distribution system, and the ability to actually inject it physically into our distribution system and gas specifications, and so on and so forth.

So that is part of enabling the industry, of the utility saying:  We'll accept this within our supply mix.

The second part of enabling the industry is really around trying to address this major barrier of a marketplace failure, where there aren't sufficient forces to give the price certainty and price amount to allow this market to foster at this moment in time.


MR. GOULDEN:  The only thing I would add, Mr. Thompson, is that we identified this at page 11 of our joint evidence.

As far as our role in enabling, it is our view that without our being involved in this market, it won't develop.  So that is why we see us as being a critical enabler.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I was just -- I guess you have two meanings of "enabling" and the one that this application centres on, as I understand it, is, in your view, this market needs a shot of money to get it off the ground, and you are asking the ratepayers to put it up.

That is the enabling that this application speaks to; have I got that straight?


MR. GOULDEN:  There's certainly a financial, a big financial component, Mr. Thompson, but it is more than just, you know, writing a cheque.

It is getting an end up and going, and we have a critical part in playing to get that to happen.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But my question is:  To some extent, it is already emerging, without that shot in the arm, or wherever you want to put it?

And what do we make of that?


MR. GOULDEN:  Currently, it is only developed in the electricity side of the business.  It's not developed in any way, shape or form in the natural gas side of the business.

So that is what we're proposing, is in order for it to be enabled in our business, we need to be involved.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what about Abitibi and Gerdau?  That gas is displacing gas sales, is it not, that you would make to those companies, to some degree?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, and in a very finite amount.  That's true.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But there it is.  It is up and running.

And why should we conclude that will not continue to happen, without you guys coming on the scene with your proposal?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  With regards to the two examples that we identified, I will note that they have been around a long time.  They have been around at least 10 years.  So we have two examples of two particular plants, and we have no more.


So we don't see that as being an industry.  We see that as being, you know, two, albeit positive, projects, but there aren't any more that we are aware of.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me move on.

Sorry, had you finished?  I didn't mean to interrupt you.


Just on what you are asking for, Mr. Warren asked you a number of questions here, and I just want to make sure I understand the three -- the elements of what you are asking.

First of all, you are asking that the Board fix a 20-year price for the purchase of RNG; have I got that straight?


[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the price for landfill, it is really two prices?  $13 up to 150,000 gJs, and then $6.00 per gJ thereafter; have I got that straight?


MR. GOULDEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And just what does that mean?  If you sell to one producer -- let's say you sell to three producers at less than 150,000.

Each of them will get $13 dollars per gJ?  So do you buy from three producers?

MR. GOULDEN:  That's correct.  So for the first 150,000 gJs in a year, we would pay $13.  Thereafter, for the remainder of the year, we would pay $6.00 to each individual project or individual producer.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Okay.  So it is project -- it is producer specific, not volume specific?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  It is project specific.

MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.  And then on the anaerobic digesters, it is $17 per gJ up to 50,000 gJs, and then $11 per gJ thereafter?  Do I have that straight?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  On a per project basis, again.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you're asking the Board specifically to approve that.  You are also asking the Board, if I understand it, that the Board approve the annual purchase volume cap for Union, which I believe is 2.2 pJs, and for Enbridge is 3.3 pJs?

[Mr. Goulden and Mr. Maclean confer]

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And am I correct that the other feature of the proposal that you are specifically seeking approval for is the five-year contract acceptance window, which I understand to mean you can ramp up to these caps within that five years?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.  And on the earlier of five years and when we hit the volume cap, then the program would end.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that what you are specifically asking the Board to approve?

MR. MACLEAN:  I think to clarify all of the previous comments, what we're really asking for specifically is to allow for the cost consequences of our program to be absorbed within system supply, and that we're not asking the Board to make a whole series of individual decisions about discrete components.  We are asking for this program and its long-term cost consequences to be part of system supply.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me just turn that -- draw your attention to Union's application, which is -- it is Exhibit A, tab 2 and paragraph 6.  It has specific paragraphs, and that is why I asked the question.

Enbridge is a little looser than this, but my understanding is that those are the specific approvals that you are asking for.  Has that changed?

MR. GOULDEN:  No.  Those are the specific approvals.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  You have been asked a number of questions about the premium, and just to nail down the numbers, I would appreciate it if you could just turn up -- I think it is IU LPMA, and it is number 20.  It is a blue sheet document that I want to draw your attention to, in terms of Union and the derivation of the numbers for Union.

Mr. Poch put some numbers to you and you had some discussion with Mr. Warren based on those numbers, but this blue sheet, Exhibit IU-11-29, indicates that the Union total - I am looking at page 2 - for the north and the south is $25.119 million.

MR. GOULDEN:  I have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that the current number?

MR. GOULDEN:  I believe so, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the Enbridge number that others have referred you to is I think current $36.2 million.  So it is sum of those two numbers that represents the annual premium; fair?

MR. GOULDEN:  Just to provide a bit of explanation of the update, the update, I believe -- sorry.  The question was asking to...

I believe this was based on the January 2012 QRAM results, which is where the 25 million came from.  It wasn't actually part of the original analysis, because when we provided our original submission, we did it on the QRAM price in effect at the time.  So that is where that came from, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I appreciate it is an update.

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  But I think the Enbridge number of 36.2 million represents the January QRAM, so I am just trying to get the two numbers straight on the record, if I could.

Now, in the calculation of the premium in the Enbridge exhibit -- I am just trying to find a page here that we can refer to that is close at hand.  Perhaps if you go to the Direct Energy number --


MR. MACLEAN:  Is it LPMA No. 24?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, actually, I was thinking of -- well, don't take me there.  I will take you to Direct Energy No. 11, which is IE-7, and it is the first sheet under that tab.

If you go to page 2, you will see the calculation for Enbridge.  You are right this table appears in other exhibits, as well.  Do you have that, table 1?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes, I see it now.

MR. THOMPSON:  And this calculation is based on an RNG average purchase cost of $15 per gJ?

MR. MACLEAN:  I believe that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  It is.  It's at line 1.  You can see it there.

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  I assume that is a reasonable expectation?

MR. MACLEAN:  I believe it is the midpoint between the $17 and the $13, since we're unable to determine exactly which projects would come forward.  We picked a midpoint between the two.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it is, in effect, a mix of 50 percent landfill up to 150, and 50 percent anaerobic digesters up to 17?

MR. MACLEAN:  Yes.  It is, you know, an approximation.  In the absence of knowing exactly what projects would come forward, it is a reasonable midpoint.

MR. GOULDEN:  And it is a conservative proxy, Mr. Thompson, because it is just the first block.  So to the extent there is big projects, then obviously the price would be lower than that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And if they're all landfill -- sorry, if they're all digesters -- if they're weighted to digesters, it will be higher than that and small projects, or less than 50,000.  Okay, thanks.

Let me move on, then to just a question about the longer-term trend in gas prices.  Here I want to take you to Direct -- I see it is 4:30, Mr. Chairman.  Should I finish this question, and then...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.

MR. THOMPSON:  I want to take you to Direct No. 7.  So that is I-7-7.

MR. MACLEAN:  I have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  As soon as I get it, I will be up to speed.

No, I've got the wrong one.  Excuse me.  It is the one you were discussing with one of the witnesses that had the supply forecast in it.  I thought it was...

MR. GOULDEN:  I think there is two, Mr. Thompson.  There is the one that you referred to, which is I-7-7.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, yes.

MR. GOULDEN:  And then there is another one, which is CME 5(d), which indicates current Henry Hub futures.

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  It is I-7-7.  I had it right the first time, not IE-7-7, but I-7-7.  It must be in my volume 1.  I have it here now.


See, this was going to the supply picture.  You were asked questions about the supply.  This not a supply-related issue.  We don't need the supply.  And you were asked some questions about what the premium might be going out 10 years and 20 years.  Do you recall that discussion?


MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I just wanted -- in this interrogatory, you actually include some evidence about the abundance of supply.  And in Canada, if you go to page 2, your evidence is that, based on Canada's -– I guess this is a NEB study.  We have 191 years of supply left.  Do you accept that?

MR. GOULDEN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So this isn't all about the viability of the gas industry, which was what was said in the opening here this morning, is it?


MR. MACLEAN:  Actually, I would say that it is, in fact, entirely about the viability of the natural gas industry in the long term.

And I would suggest that 191 years of traditional natural gas supply will not do anything about the problem, if you assume the original premise.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you have lost me there.  Are you now talking -- in year 192, we're going to be tight?

MR. MACLEAN:  No.  I'm saying that society is changing its attitudes with respect to fossil fuel and GHG emissions.

And therefore, you could have an infinite supply of traditional natural gas, but if the problem you are trying to address is, in fact, fossil fuels and emissions, then the supply of traditional natural gas doesn't help you solve the problem.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I will move on from there tomorrow, Mr. Chairman, when we resume, if that is satisfactory.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

Is there anything before we break this afternoon?


Could I ask parties to let Mr. Millar or Ms. Crnojacki know about estimates for panel number 2 and panel number 3, if you can project that far ahead?


We will stand adjourned until 9:30 tomorrow morning.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:36 p.m.
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